

Published for SISSA by 🖄 Springer

RECEIVED: February 21, 2017 ACCEPTED: April 8, 2017 PUBLISHED: April 19, 2017

# All Chern-Simons invariants of 4D, N = 1 gauged superform hierarchies

# Katrin Becker,<sup>*a*</sup> Melanie Becker,<sup>*a*</sup> William D. Linch III,<sup>*a*</sup> Stephen Randall<sup>*b*</sup> and Daniel Robbins<sup>*c*</sup>

- <sup>a</sup> George P. and Cynthia Woods Mitchell Institute for Fundamental Physics and Astronomy, Texas A&M University,
- College Station, TX 77843-4242, U.S.A.
- <sup>b</sup>Department of Physics, University of California, Berkeley, CA 94720-7300, U.S.A.
- <sup>c</sup>Department of Physics, University at Albany, Albany, NY 12222, U.S.A.
- *E-mail:* kbecker@physics.tamu.edu, mbecker@physics.tamu.edu, wdlinch3@gmail.com, srandall@berkeley.edu, dgrobbins@albany.edu

ABSTRACT: We give a geometric description of supersymmetric gravity/(non-)abelian p-form hierarchies in superspaces with 4D, N = 1 super-Poincaré invariance. These hierarchies give rise to Chern-Simons-like invariants, such as those of the 5D, N = 1 graviphoton and the eleven-dimensional 3-form but also generalizations such as Green-Schwarz-like/BF-type couplings. Previous constructions based on prepotential superfields are reinterpreted in terms of p-forms in superspace thereby elucidating the underlying geometry. This vastly simplifies the calculations of superspace field-strengths, Bianchi identities, and Chern-Simons invariants. Using this, we prove the validity of a recursive formula for the conditions defining these actions for any such tensor hierarchy. Solving it at quadratic and cubic orders, we recover the known results for the BF-type and cubic Chern-Simons actions. As an application, we compute the quartic invariant  $\sim AdAdAdA + \ldots$  relevant, for example, to seven-dimensional supergravity compactifications.

KEYWORDS: Superspaces, Chern-Simons Theories, Differential and Algebraic Geometry, Supergravity Models

ARXIV EPRINT: 1702.00799

# Contents

1	Introduction			
<b>2</b>	2 Prepotential formalism			
3	Superforms			
	3.1 Differential supergeometry of tensor hierarchies	12		
4	Ectoplasm	13		
	4.1 Weil triviality	15		
5	All Chern-Simons actions	16		
	5.1 Proof of claim 1	16		
	5.1.1 Quadratic action	17		
	5.1.2 Higher-order actions	18		
	5.2 Solution of the recursion relations	21		
6	Conclusions	23		
A	Superform components	24		
	A.1 Composite forms			

# 1 Introduction

Gravitational tensor hierarchies are a common feature of gauged supergravity compactifications as they result from the reduction of p-forms in the component spectrum that are charged under the higher-dimensional superdiffeomorphisms [1–7]. Upon compactification, some of the components of the gravitino generally become massive but leave behind massless non-abelian gauge fields from mixed components of the frame and their superpartners. What remains is a hierarchy of differential forms of various spacetime degrees, all charged under the residual diffeomorphisms compatible with the splitting of the compactified spacetime. Further decoupling this structure from the lower-dimensional supergravity fields, one is left with a hierarchy of p-forms charged under the non-abelian gauge algebra of diffeomorphisms of the compactification manifold.

Such hierarchies of *p*-form fields, or "tensor hierarchies" as they have come to be known, come in various forms including abelian, non-abelian, and gravitational hierarchies. The simplest such hierarchy arises in any theory containing a *p*-form field (p > 0) on a product spacetime  $X \times Y$ : here the de Rham differential  $d \to d_X + d_Y$  becomes a sum and the *p*-form splits into a collection of *p*-forms on X valued in *q*-forms on Y. (In this case the "hierarchy" structure is encoded in the ordinary de Rham complex on Y.)

In particular, any dimensional reduction of a theory containing a p-form field will give rise to a tensor hierarchy of this type. In the typical situation, the p-form fields in question are generalizations of the 1-form field of Mawell theory: abelian gauge transformations of such fields are exterior derivatives of (p-1)-form gauge parameters and the exterior derivative of such a potential is an invariant (p+1)-form field-strength. The presence of such abelian *p*-forms is typical in extended supergravity and higher-dimensional supergravity theories: these theories have additional spinor degrees of freedom arising from a larger gravitino, and the additional spin-0 and spin-1 degrees of freedom of the "gravi-*p*forms" are needed to balance this without introducing more spin-2. Well-known examples include the graviphoton (+ scalar) of 4D, N = 2 supergravity and the 3-form of elevendimensional supergravity.

Gravitational tensor hierarchies arise naturally, then, in extended supergravity and higher-dimensional supergravity theories on product manifolds. More generally, the background spacetime can have the structure of a non-trivial bundle over Y, in which case the mixed components of the graviton become the Kaluza-Klein gauge field for the algebra of diffeomorphisms on Y. The reduced components of the gravi-p-forms are charged under this non-abelian gauge algebra: in addition to their usual abelian p-form transformation, they transform as matter fields under Y diffeomorphisms.

The structure of the gravitational tensor hierarchy can be generalized by replacing the collection of dimensionally reduced forms with a more general set not necessarily resulting from any dimensional reduction. Maps between these new forms must be defined to replace the de Rham differential. Provided this is done in a manner compatible with the de Rham complex of forms on X, there results an abelian tensor hierarchy of forms on X with values in this new complex.

Abstracting further, the algebra of diffeomorphisms on Y can then be replaced with a general non-abelian gauge algebra provided a representation is assigned to each degree in the new hierarchy. The action of this algebra should satisfy certain "equivariance" conditions with respect to the de Rham differential on X and the maps of the p-form hierarchy. These conditions can be interpreted as gauging the abelian hierarchy with respect to the new non-abelian gauge algebra; such hierarchies are referred to as "nonabelian tensor hierarchies".<sup>1</sup> It is important to emphasize that the p-forms of the hierarchy transform linearly under the non-abelian group. Despite the terminology, the non-abelian aspect of the gauge structure is only that of the gauge field with the "tensors" transforming as matter fields.

Motivated by applications to supergravity compactifications, the defining conditions of such hierarchies were reformulated in [13] and interpreted as coming either from closure of the algebra of abelian and non-abelian gauge transformations or from the requirement that there exist enough gauge-covariant field-strengths. Assuming both of these conditions, the resulting structure is that of a double chain complex that extends the superspace de Rham complex and is equivariant under the action of the non-abelian gauge group. Being a differential chain complex in superspace, such theories naturally define supersymmetric characteristic classes, provided the appropriate traces are supplied. In particular, it is

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>The conditions defining such a general non-abelian tensor hierarchy were formulated in [8] in an attempt to construct six-dimensional superconformally invariant gauge theories (see also [9, 10]). The mathematical structure of these models was investigated further in [11, 12].

possible to define the analogs of Maxwell/Yang-Mills invariants, higher Chern/Pontryagin classes, and Chern-Simons/*BF*-type invariants.

To better understand the four-dimensional phenomenology of such theories [4, 24, 56], we first embedded the abelian [14] and later the non-abelian [13] tensor hierarchies into flat, 4D, N = 1 superspace and explicitly constructed their manifestly supersymmetric invariants. The field-strengths of such hierarchies satisfy their Bianchi identities identically<sup>2</sup> and can be used to construct the usual Maxwell-type actions. The superspace differential operators involved in the Bianchi identities turn out to be the adjoints of those appearing in the gauge transformations of the super-*p*-form potentials. Because of this, the potentials and field-strengths can be used to construct a quadratic *BF*-type invariant. By an abuse of language, we will refer to this as a quadratic Chern-Simons-type invariant for reasons that will hopefully become clear if they are not already.

In order to construct cubic and higher-order Chern-Simons-like actions (including the dimensional reductions of actual abelian Chern-Simons invariants), what is needed is a set of composite superfields constructed from the field-strengths that satisfy the same constraints (i.e. Bianchi identities) as the field-strengths themselves. Such a construction of the Chern-Simons terms suffices since the inhomogeneous part of the p-form transformations is abelian. Finding this set of composite superfields and checking the constraints requires considerable effort in the prepotential formulation since the constraints are not linear in superspace derivatives. Indeed, it is not clear *a priori* that such a set of composites exists even in the abelian version of the hierarchy. In the non-abelian case the required interplay between hierarchy identities, gauge-covariant superspace D-algebra identities, and Bianchi identities seems miraculous.

This work originated in the desire to understand this "miracle" and to obviate the cumbersome calculus of the prepotential formalism by reinterpreting it in superspace differential-geometric terms. In such a formulation, the field-strengths are specific Lorentz-irreducible parts of super-(p+1)-forms [15]. The complicated Bianchi identities they satisfy are relations "descendant" from the condition that the superforms be closed (or exact by the Poincaré lemma). Since the superspace de Rham operator is a graded derivation, the wedge product of closed forms is closed and the miraculous cancellations of the prepotential formalism would just be descendants of this trivial fact. Finally, it was imagined that the Chern-Simons-like actions would simply be the integral of the (pullbacks of the) higher-dimensional super-Chern-Simons form.

As it turns out, this interpretation is overly-simplistic for two reasons. The first is that the closed superforms that define *irreducible* representations of the super-Poincaré algebra do not form a ring under multiplication: to get an irreducible supermultiplet from a superform, many parts must be set to zero as conventional constraints (similarly to what is done to the torsion in superspace supergravity theories). On the other hand, when two lower-degree forms are wedged together they will generally give contributions violating these conditions and ruin the picture sketched above. This problem can be circumvented

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>They are given explicitly in terms of off-shell "prepotential" superfields. Such a (finite) set of prepotentials exists only because we have chosen to work in a superspace admitting no more than four real supercharges.

by defining an improved form in the same cohomology class that satisfies the original conditions on the irreducible superform.<sup>3</sup>

The second complication is that the Chern-Simons action is defined by a form that is not closed whereas the "ectoplasm" method used to construct supersymmetric actions specifically requires the use of closed forms [20, 21]. Fortunately, it is known how to handle this situation [16, 17]: in addition to the Chern-Simons form C constructed by wedging superform potentials and field-strengths, one constructs a second, inequivalent form K that is both manifestly gauge invariant and satisfies dK = dC. (That such a form exists is a phenomenon called "Weil triviality" [19], cf. section 4.1.) This gives a closed superform J = C - K which, in turn, defines the superspace completion of the component Chern-Simons action by the ectoplasm procedure (cf. section 4).

Despite these complications to the naïve geometrization of the prepotential hierarchy, we will find that it is possible to give a recursive formula for the composite superfields defining the Chern-Simons invariants of any non-abelian tensor hierarchy of the type defined in reference [13]. Furthermore, it is possible to solve these recursion relations to obtain all of the superspace invariants explicitly. We demonstrate this in detail by reproducing the cubic invariant found in [13] and deriving a new quartic invariant. The former was recently used (in conjunction with a superspace Hitchin functional) to derive the scalar potential of eleven-dimensional supergravity in backgrounds admitting a (not necessarily closed)  $G_2$ structure [23]. The quartic invariant would be a main ingredient in a similar analysis for seven-dimensional supergravity backgrounds [22].

**Outline.** We begin in section 2 with a review of the non-abelian tensor hierarchy in the prepotential formulation and use this to describe the problem of constructing Chern-Simons-like gauge-invariant superspace actions. This pre-geometrical description is reformulated in terms of super-p-forms in section 3 where the composite superfields appearing in the construction of the (secondary) characteristic classes are interpreted as products of closed superforms. In section 4 we relate these composite superforms to supersymmetric invariants by way of "ectoplasm". This method takes as input a closed superform of spacetime degree four and returns a chiral superspace integral. As mentioned above, the product of closed irreducible superforms is not a closed irreducible superform. In section 4.1, we construct a gauge-invariant composite superform with which we modify the original composite superform to obtain a closed, irreducible, composite superform. Applying the ectoplasm method, this corrected composite form gives the Chern-Simons-like superspace action. Since the construction is in terms of superforms, the result is manifestly supersymmetric and gauge-invariant by the same logic as that for bosonic Chern-Simons invariants. In section 5, we use this technology to derive and solve a recursion formula for all Chern-Simons-like actions for any non-abelian tensor hierarchy. We summarize our conclusions in section 6.

 $<sup>{}^{3}</sup>$ By "irreducible" we will always mean as a representation of the super-Poincaré algebra. In particular, a form can be both composite (i.e. constructed by wedging non-composite forms) and irreducible (i.e. it satisfies the same constraints as the non-composite form of the same degree).

As we will see throughout our presentation, the use of superforms streamlines the construction of geometric invariants and simplifies or obviates many cumbersome and delicate calculations. We have attempted to make this paper self-contained but have been necessarily brief in our review of superform methods. A pedagogical introduction to superforms in the context of tensor hierarchies may be found in reference [30].

# 2 Prepotential formalism

The papers [13, 14] were motivated by the goal of writing a supersymmetric theory in D > 4 dimensions, particularly eleven-dimensional supergravity, in 4D N = 1 language. The results obtained were more general, with no assumptions being made about whether the four-dimensional tensor hierarchy had been obtained from a higher-dimensional theory or not. In the present work we will not be as careful to maintain this full generality, although this choice is primarily made to keep the notation simple. Instead we will implicitly assume that the four-dimensional tensor hierarchy arises from a *p*-form in *D* dimensions, where the *D*-dimensional theory is being put on a background  $\mathbf{R}^4 \times M$ , with *M* a (D - 4)-dimensional internal space. Note that *p* should be odd in order for us to have a non-trivial Chern-Simons action.

In this case, the bosonic four-dimensional tensor hierarchy is comprised of axions a, which are zero-forms in spacetime and p-forms on M, spacetime one-forms  $A_a$  which are (p-1)-forms on M, spacetime two-forms  $B_{ab}$  valued in internal (p-2)-forms, spacetime three-forms  $C_{abc}$  valued in internal (p-3)-forms, and spacetime four-forms  $D_{abcd}$  valued in internal (p-4)-forms. Note that if p = 3 there simply are no  $D_{abcd}$  fields, and if p = 1 there are only axions and 1-forms. These forms can be multiplied, using the wedge product for forms on M, and if D = n(p+1)-1 for some n > 1, then we can construct a D-dimensional Chern-Simons action by wedging one potential and n - 1 field-strengths and integrating the resulting D-form over  $\mathbf{R}^4 \times M$ . By integrating just over M, we get a 4D Chern-Simons action for the tensor hierarchy.

Additionally, if we are reducing a supergravity theory in D dimensions, then we can also incorporate the 4D gauge fields coming from off-diagonal components of the D-dimensional metric. These are spacetime one-forms which are tangent vectors on M, and their corresponding non-abelian gauge group is the group of diffeomorphisms on M (whose Lie algebra can be identified with  $\Gamma(TM)$ , the space of vector fields on M with the usual Lie bracket).

In [13], it was explained how to embed these structures into 4D, N = 1 superfields. The non-abelian gauge vectors  $\mathcal{A}_a$  were promoted to TM-valued super-1-forms  $\mathcal{A}_A$  (with the lowest components of the superfield  $\mathcal{A}_a$  matching the bosonic fields of the same name) which were used to build gauge covariant super-derivatives  $\mathcal{D}_A = \{\mathcal{D}_a, \mathcal{D}_\alpha, \bar{\mathcal{D}}_{\dot{\alpha}}\}$  by

$$\mathcal{D}_a = \partial_a - (\mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{A}})_a, \quad \mathcal{D}_\alpha = D_\alpha - (\mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{A}})_\alpha, \quad \mathcal{D}_{\dot{\alpha}} = D_{\dot{\alpha}} - (\mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{A}})_{\dot{\alpha}}.$$
 (2.1)

Here  $\mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{A}}$  is the Lie derivative along the vector field  $\mathcal{A}$  which acts on differential forms of the internal space.

The bosonic fields of the hierarchy are embedded in superfield prepotentials as [15]

$$a = \frac{1}{2} (\Phi + \bar{\Phi}) \big|, \qquad (2.2a)$$

$$A_a = -\frac{1}{4} (\bar{\sigma}_a)^{\dot{\alpha}\alpha} [\mathcal{D}_{\alpha}, \bar{\mathcal{D}}_{\dot{\alpha}}] V |, \qquad (2.2b)$$

$$B_{ab} = -\frac{i}{2} [(\sigma_{ab})_{\alpha}{}^{\beta} \mathcal{D}^{\alpha} \Sigma_{\beta} - (\bar{\sigma}_{ab})^{\dot{\alpha}}{}_{\dot{\beta}} \bar{\mathcal{D}}_{\dot{\alpha}} \bar{\Sigma}^{\dot{\beta}}] |, \qquad (2.2c)$$

$$C_{abc} = \frac{1}{8} \varepsilon_{abcd} (\bar{\sigma}^d)^{\dot{\alpha}\alpha} [\mathcal{D}_{\alpha}, \bar{\mathcal{D}}_{\dot{\alpha}}] X |, \qquad (2.2d)$$

$$D_{abcd} = \frac{i}{8} \varepsilon_{abcd} (\mathcal{D}^2 \Gamma - \bar{\mathcal{D}}^2 \bar{\Gamma}) |.$$
(2.2e)

Here  $\Phi$  is a covariantly chiral superfield valued in *p*-forms on M, V is a real superfield valued in (p-1)-forms,  $\Sigma_{\alpha}$  is a covariantly chiral spinor superfield valued in (p-2)-forms, X is a real superfield valued in (p-3)-forms, and  $\Gamma$  is a covariantly chiral superfield valued in (p-4)-forms. A vertical slash means that we take the lowest component of the superfield.

The non-abelian gauge transformations take the form  $\delta S = \mathcal{L}_{\lambda}S$  for any of the hierarchy superfields S, where  $\lambda$  is a TM-valued real superfield parameterizing the non-abelian gauge transformations and the super-1-form  $\mathcal{A}_A$  transforms as  $\delta \mathcal{A}_A = \mathcal{D}_A \lambda$  (with the Lie derivative inside of  $\mathcal{D}_A$  now acting on vector fields). The gauge-invariant part of the non-abelian vectors is captured by a TM-valued covariantly chiral spinor superfield  $\mathcal{W}_{\alpha}$ satisfying  $\mathcal{D}^{\alpha}\mathcal{W}_{\alpha} = \bar{\mathcal{D}}_{\dot{\alpha}}\bar{\mathcal{W}}^{\dot{\alpha}}$ .

The bosonic gauge transformations from the hierarchy now lift to superfield gauge transformations parameterized by chiral  $\Lambda$ , real L, chiral spinor  $\Upsilon_{\alpha}$ , real  $\Xi$ , and chiral  $\Pi$  superfields valued in (p-1)-, (p-2)-, (p-3)-, (p-4)-, and (p-5)-forms respectively. Note that if p = 3, as in the reduction from eleven-dimensional supergravity, then the last two gauge parameters do not appear. The transformations are

$$\delta \Phi = \partial \Lambda, \tag{2.3a}$$

$$\delta V = \frac{1}{2i} (\Lambda - \bar{\Lambda}) - \partial L, \qquad (2.3b)$$

$$\delta\Sigma_{\alpha} = -\frac{1}{4}\bar{\mathcal{D}}^2 \mathcal{D}_{\alpha}L + \partial\Upsilon_{\alpha} + (\iota_{\mathcal{W}})_{\alpha}\Lambda, \qquad (2.3c)$$

$$\delta X = \frac{1}{2i} (\mathcal{D}^{\alpha} \Upsilon_{\alpha} - \bar{\mathcal{D}}_{\dot{\alpha}} \bar{\Upsilon}^{\dot{\alpha}}) - \partial \Xi - \Omega(\iota_{\mathcal{W}}, L), \qquad (2.3d)$$

$$\delta\Gamma = -\frac{1}{4}\bar{\mathcal{D}}^2\Xi + \partial\Pi + (\iota_{\mathcal{W}})^{\alpha}\Upsilon_{\alpha}.$$
(2.3e)

Here  $\partial$  is the exterior derivative acting on differential forms on M, and  $\iota_v$  is contraction of a form by a vector field v. The object  $\Omega(\cdot, \cdot)$  is the so-called Chern-Simons superfield,

$$\Omega\left(\psi,S\right) \coloneqq \psi^{\alpha} \mathcal{D}_{\alpha} S + \bar{\psi}_{\dot{\alpha}} \bar{\mathcal{D}}^{\dot{\alpha}} S + \frac{1}{2} \left(\mathcal{D}^{\alpha} \psi_{\alpha} + \bar{\mathcal{D}}_{\dot{\alpha}} \bar{\psi}^{\dot{\alpha}}\right) S, \tag{2.4}$$

which takes as input a covariantly chiral spinor superfield  $\psi^{\alpha}$  and a real superfield S.<sup>4</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>Its name derives from the property (in flat superspace for simplicity)  $\bar{D}^2\Omega(\psi, S) = \psi^{\alpha}\bar{D}^2D_{\alpha}S +$ 

It is possible to construct a set of gauge-invariant (under the hierarchy transformations (2.3), and covariant under the non-abelian gauge transformations) field-strength superfields,

$$E = \partial \Phi, \tag{2.5a}$$

$$U = \frac{1}{2i}(\Phi - \bar{\Phi}) - \partial V, \qquad (2.5b)$$

$$W_{\alpha} = -\frac{1}{4}\bar{\mathcal{D}}^{2}\mathcal{D}_{\alpha}V + \partial\Sigma_{\alpha} + (\iota_{\mathcal{W}})_{\alpha}\Phi, \qquad (2.5c)$$

$$H = \frac{1}{2i} (\mathcal{D}^{\alpha} \Sigma_{\alpha} - \bar{\mathcal{D}}_{\dot{\alpha}} \bar{\Sigma}^{\dot{\alpha}}) - \partial X - \Omega(\iota_{\mathcal{W}}, V), \qquad (2.5d)$$

$$G = -\frac{1}{4}\bar{\mathcal{D}}^2 X + \partial\Gamma + (\iota_{\mathcal{W}})^{\alpha} \Sigma_{\alpha}.$$
 (2.5e)

Of these, E,  $W_{\alpha}$ , and G are chiral superfields, whereas U and H are real superfields. They satisfy the Bianchi identities

$$0 = \partial E, \tag{2.6a}$$

$$0 = \frac{1}{2i}(E - \bar{E}) - \partial U, \qquad (2.6b)$$

$$0 = -\frac{1}{4}\bar{\mathcal{D}}^2 \mathcal{D}_{\alpha} U + \partial W_{\alpha} + (\iota_{\mathcal{W}})_{\alpha} E, \qquad (2.6c)$$

$$0 = \frac{1}{2i} (\mathcal{D}^{\alpha} W_{\alpha} - \bar{\mathcal{D}}_{\dot{\alpha}} \bar{W}^{\dot{\alpha}}) - \partial H - \Omega(\iota_{\mathcal{W}}, U), \qquad (2.6d)$$

$$0 = -\frac{1}{4}\bar{\mathcal{D}}^2 H + \partial G + (\iota_{\mathcal{W}})^{\alpha} W_{\alpha}.$$
(2.6e)

In the next section we will relate the repeating patterns in (2.3), (2.5), and (2.6) to the action of the superspace de Rham operator on superforms.

We can now write a candidate super-Chern-Simons action as

$$S_{SCS} = \operatorname{Re}\left[i\int d^4x d^2\theta \operatorname{Tr}(\Phi g + \Sigma^{\alpha}w_{\alpha} + \Gamma e)\right] + \int d^4x d^4\theta \operatorname{Tr}(Vh - Xu), \qquad (2.7)$$

where  $e, u, w_{\alpha}, h$ , and g are composite superfields built out of the field-strengths (2.5), with  $e, w_{\alpha}$ , and g chiral, and u and h real. Here the Tr represents an integration of the internal (D-4)-form over the internal space (and for cases other than those coming from dimensional reduction, it is possible to assign a suitably generalized meaning). Then the conditions for gauge invariance of  $S_{SCS}$  under the hierarchy transformations (2.3) are the

 $<sup>\</sup>frac{1}{2}(D^{\alpha}\psi_{\alpha}-\bar{D}_{\dot{\alpha}}\bar{\psi}^{\dot{\alpha}})S$  so if  $\psi_{\alpha} \to W_{\alpha} = -\frac{1}{4}\bar{D}^{2}D_{\alpha}V$ , then  $-\frac{1}{4}\bar{D}^{2}\Omega(W,V) = W^{\alpha}W_{\alpha}$  gives the superspace version of  $d\Omega = F \wedge F$ . In terms of superforms, this corresponds to deforming the 3-form field strength  $H \to dB + X$  [51] by the Chern-Simons super-3-form  $X = \operatorname{tr}\left(\frac{1}{2}AdA + \frac{1}{3}A^{3}\right)$  [52, 53]. (Applications to the chiral anomaly in superspace were studied in [54, 55].)

"descent relations"

$$0 = \partial e, \tag{2.8a}$$

$$0 = \frac{1}{2i}(e - \bar{e}) - \partial u, \qquad (2.8b)$$

$$0 = -\frac{1}{4}\bar{\mathcal{D}}^2 \mathcal{D}_{\alpha} u + \partial w_{\alpha} + (\iota_{\mathcal{W}})_{\alpha} e, \qquad (2.8c)$$

$$0 = \frac{1}{2i} (\mathcal{D}^{\alpha} w_{\alpha} - \bar{\mathcal{D}}_{\dot{\alpha}} \bar{w}^{\dot{\alpha}}) - \partial h - \Omega(\iota_{\mathcal{W}}, u), \qquad (2.8d)$$

$$0 = -\frac{1}{4}\bar{\mathcal{D}}^2 h + \partial g + (\iota_{\mathcal{W}})^{\alpha} w_{\alpha}.$$
(2.8e)

In other words, the composite fields must satisfy the same Bianchi identities (2.6) as the field-strengths themselves. This means that to build a quadratic super-Chern-Simons action, we should simply take e = E, u = U,  $w_{\alpha} = W_{\alpha}$ , h = H, and g = G. To build actions that are higher order in the number of fields apparently requires significantly more work, and in [13, 14] this was done to cubic order essentially by writing down all possible terms which could appear in the composites and then fixing the relative coefficients by solving (2.8).

This concludes our review of our previous results on non-abelian tensor hierarchies and their Chern-Simons invariants in 4D, N = 1 superspace. The main result of this paper can now be stated precisely as the explicit construction of any Chern-Simons action of the form (2.7). The lemma we will need to establish is the following

**Claim 1.** Suppose that we have constructed the composites  $e_n$ ,  $u_n$ ,  $w_n^{\alpha}$ ,  $h_n$ , and  $g_n$  that solve the descent equations (2.8) and are of order n in the field-strength superfields. Then the composite superfields

$$e_{n+1} = Ee_n, (2.9a)$$

$$u_{n+1} = \frac{1}{2}(E + \bar{E})u_n + \frac{1}{2}U(e_n + \bar{e}_n),$$
(2.9b)

$$w_{n+1}^{\alpha} = Ew_n^{\alpha} + W^{\alpha}e_n + \frac{i}{4}\bar{\mathcal{D}}^2(\mathcal{D}^{\alpha}Uu_n - U\mathcal{D}^{\alpha}u_n), \qquad (2.9c)$$

$$h_{n+1} = \frac{1}{2} (E + \bar{E}) h_n + \frac{1}{2} H(e_n + \bar{e}_n) + \Omega(w_n, U) + \Omega(W, u_n)$$
(2.9d)

$$-iD^{\alpha}U(\iota_{\mathcal{W}})_{\alpha}u_{n} - i(\iota_{\mathcal{W}})^{\alpha}UD_{\alpha}u_{n} + iD_{\dot{\alpha}}U(\iota_{\bar{\mathcal{W}}})^{\alpha}u_{n} + i(\iota_{\bar{\mathcal{W}}})_{\dot{\alpha}}UD^{\alpha}u_{n},$$

$$g_{n+1} = Eg_{n} + Ge_{n} + W^{\alpha}w_{n\alpha} + \frac{i}{4}\bar{D}^{2}(Hu_{n} - Uh_{n}),$$
(2.9e)

of order n + 1 also satisfy the descent relations.

The most straightforward proof of Claim 1 is to substitute the expressions (2.9) into the descent relations (2.8) and verify that all terms cancel using the Bianchi identities (2.6). This, however, does not elucidate the structure of the recursion relation nor the underlying reason the descent equations admit a non-trivial solution in the first place. Instead, a constructive proof of this claim will be given in section 5 once we have developed the necessary supergeometry.

#### 3 Superforms

In this section we geometrize the prepotential formalism of the previous section by recasting it in terms of differential forms in superspace [15]. We define a superform  $\omega$  of degree p by the naïve extension of the coordinate expression of a bosonic p-form,

$$\omega = \frac{1}{p!} dz^{M_p} \wedge \dots \wedge dz^{M_1} \omega_{M_1 \dots M_p}(z).$$
(3.1)

Here  $z^M = (x^m, \theta^\mu, \bar{\theta}^{\dot{\mu}})$  stands for the Cartesian super-coordinates and  $dz^M \wedge dz^N = -(-1)^{MN} dz^N \wedge dz^M$  is the graded wedge product. The de Rham operator

$$d = dz^M \frac{\partial}{\partial z^M} = dz^M \partial_M \tag{3.2}$$

maps super-*p*-forms to super-(p+1)-forms with

$$d\omega = \frac{1}{p!} dz^{M_p} \wedge \dots \wedge dz^{M_1} \wedge dz^N \partial_N \omega_{M_1 \dots M_p}(z)$$
  
=  $\frac{1}{p!} dz^{M_p} \wedge \dots \wedge dz^{M_1} \wedge dz^N \partial_{[N} \omega_{M_1 \dots M_p]}(z).$  (3.3)

Here [...] denotes graded anti-symmetrization of indices. The partial derivatives supercommute  $[\partial_M, \partial_N] = \partial_M \partial_N - (-1)^{MN} \partial_N \partial_M = 0$ . Thus, the super-de Rham operator is a differential and we can construct the superspace analog of the de Rham complex

$$\Omega^{\bullet} : 0 \longrightarrow \Omega^{0} \xrightarrow{d} \Omega^{1} \xrightarrow{d} \Omega^{2} \xrightarrow{d} \Omega^{3} \longrightarrow \dots$$
(3.4)

Gauge potentials A are defined by closed forms  $dF = 0 \Rightarrow F = dA$  through the Poincaré lemma and we would like to extend this to superspace gauge potentials. The naïve solution  $F_{M_1...M_p} = p! \partial_{[M_1}A_{M_2...M_p]}$  does not define a linear representation of the supersymmetry algebra because the fermionic coordinate derivatives do not commute with the supercharges. The solution to this problem is to pass to a super-covariant basis of forms by introducing flat superspace vielbeins  $E_A{}^M$  and their inverses  $E_M{}^A$ 

$$d = dz^M E_M{}^A E_A{}^M \partial_M = E^A D_A. aga{3.5}$$

Similarly, we rearrange

$$\omega = \frac{1}{p!} E^{A_p} \wedge \dots \wedge E^{A_1} \omega_{A_1 \dots A_p}(z).$$
(3.6)

The flat superspace covariant derivatives  $D_A = (D_\alpha, \overline{D}_{\dot{\alpha}}, \partial_a)$  commute with the supercharges but now the frames carry torsion  $T^A = dE^A$ . This changes the formula (3.1) for the exterior derivative to the covariant version

$$d\omega = \frac{1}{p!} E^{A_p} \wedge \dots \wedge E^{A_1} \wedge E^B \left( D_{[B} \omega_{A_1 \dots A_p]}(z) + \frac{1}{2} T_{[BA_1}{}^C \omega_{[C|A_2 \dots A_p]}(z) \right).$$
(3.7)

Here  $|\dots|$  indicates that  $\dots$  is to be omitted from the anti-symmetrization.

The collection of superfields  $\omega_{A_1...A_p}(z)$  is taken to be graded-anti-symmetric so that the components of a *p*-form  $\omega$  which are dimension- $(\frac{1}{2}(t+u)+v)$  are superfields of the form

$$\omega_{\alpha_1\cdots\alpha_t\dot{\alpha}_1\cdots\dot{\alpha}_u a_1\cdots a_v}, \qquad t+u+v=p. \tag{3.8}$$

They are symmetric under interchange of any two spinor indices, but anti-symmetric under any other exchange of indices. To automatically keep track of these symmetry properties, it can be useful to introduce commuting spinor variables  $s^{\alpha}$  and  $\bar{s}^{\dot{\alpha}}$ , and anti-commuting vector variables  $\psi^{a}$ , which allows us to use more compact notation,

$$\omega_{s\cdots s\bar{s}\cdots\bar{s}\psi\cdots\psi} = \omega_{\alpha_1\cdots\alpha_t\dot{\alpha}_1\cdots\dot{\alpha}_u a_1\cdots a_v} s^{\alpha_1}\cdots s^{\alpha_t} \bar{s}^{\dot{\alpha}_1}\cdots \bar{s}^{\dot{\alpha}_u} \psi^{a_1}\cdots\psi^{a_v}.$$
(3.9)

(Note that since the spinor indices are symmetrized, we can have *p*-forms with p > 4 in four dimensions. Such "over-the-top forms" appear in closely-related hierarchies [7, 37, 38].)

In flat 4D, N = 1 superspace there is only one non-vanishing torsion  $T_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}{}^a = -2i(\sigma^a)_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}$ . Thus the independent components appearing in the exterior derivative of a *p*-form (3.7) can we written as

$$(d\omega)_{s\cdots s\bar{s}\cdots \bar{s}\psi\cdots\psi} = (-1)^{t+u} v \partial_{\psi} \omega_{s\cdots s\bar{s}\cdots \bar{s}\psi\cdots\psi} + t D_{s} \omega_{s\cdots s\bar{s}\cdots \bar{s}\psi\cdots\psi} + u D_{\bar{s}} \omega_{s\cdots s\bar{s}\cdots \bar{s}\psi\cdots\psi} + 2i(-1)^{p+1} t u(\sigma^{a})_{s\bar{s}} \omega_{s\cdots s\bar{s}\cdots \bar{s}\psi\cdots\psi a},$$
(3.10)

where t + u + v = p + 1, is the degree of  $d\omega$ . As in the ordinary case, we say that  $\omega$  is closed if  $d\omega = 0$ , and  $\omega$  is exact if  $\omega = d\eta$ .

We have ordered the terms so that the superfield in the first has the lowest dimension, the next two have dimension one-half higher, and the last has dimension one higher. Solving this covariant closure condition dF = 0 now gives covariant components for the potential A but there are way too many components in a general potential p-form to define an irreducible representation of the super-Poincaré algebra. (An unconstrained superfield is reducible and we have a large collection of such superfields.) This is solved by setting the lower-dimensional components of the covariant field strength F to zero. This is analogous to the torsion constraints in superspace supergravity: when this doesn't trivialize the form, the conditions give a covariant superfield because the constraints are covariant. The first component that is not set to vanish (i.e. that with the lowest dimension) must then satisfy the relation

$$(\sigma^a)_{s\bar{s}}\omega_{s\cdots s\bar{s}\cdots\bar{s}a\psi\cdots\psi} = 0, \qquad (3.11)$$

which follows from (3.10) with the lower-dimension components set to zero.<sup>5</sup> In table 1 we give the solutions to this condition for all 4D, N = 1 *p*-form field-strengths [15].

One then inserts this component into the next-higher dimension closure condition and solves the next-higher component in terms of D and  $\overline{D}$  on the first and so on. This gives conditions on the superfields in the table below.<sup>6</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>The exception is when the dimension- $\frac{p}{2}$  components are non-zero, which we have for the 1-form field-strengths (cf. table 1).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>This seemingly *ad hoc* (and potentially inconsistent, if there is no solution to (3.11)) procedure can be justified by interpreting the de Rham operator in terms of the Chevalley-Eilenberg differential of the super-translation algebra. In this context, the procedure is computing the Lie algebra cohomology of this superalgebra with values in the module of superfields [27].

p	strength	constraints	prepotential	top component
0	$F_{\alpha} = D_{\alpha}U$	$\bar{D}^2 D U = 0$	$U = \Phi + \bar{\Phi}$	$F_a = D\sigma_a \bar{D}U + \text{c.c.}$
1	$F_{\alpha a} = (\sigma_a \bar{W})_{\alpha}$	$D\bar{W} = 0 \& \bar{D}\bar{W} = DW$	$W = \bar{D}^2 D V$	$F_{ab} = D\sigma_{ab}W + \text{c.c.}$
2	$F_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}a} = (\sigma_a)_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}H$	$H = \bar{H} \& D^2 H = 0$	$H = D\Sigma + \bar{D}\bar{\Sigma}$	$F_{abc} = \varepsilon_{abcd} D \sigma^d \bar{D} H + \text{c.c.}$
3	$F_{\alpha\beta ab} = (\sigma_{ab})_{\alpha\beta} \bar{G}$	$\bar{D}G = 0$	$G = \bar{D}^2 X$	$F_{abcd} = \varepsilon_{abcd} D^2 G + \text{c.c.}$

**Table 1.** Embedding of *p*-forms in closed superforms. The component *p*-forms are embedded into closed super-(p + 1)-form field-strengths *F* as originally shown in [15]. Each field-strength can be written in terms of an invariant scalar or spinor superfield. These satisfy constraints that can be solved in terms of prepotentials. Numerical coefficients are neglected in this table for simplicity but can be found in section 2 (for the constraints and prepotentials) and in appendix A (for the superform components).

Based on table 1, we again see a pattern (as was mentioned in the previous section) between the structures of the constraints and prepotential solutions. Although not included in the table, this pattern extends to the gauge variations as well. It is not always appreciated that these rhyming structures are simply consequences of nilpotency at various levels of the complex. In the original superforms paper [15] this is observed as prepotential solutions having a "memory" of the gauge transformations and in [14] it is remarked that there is a "beautiful symmetry" between the constraints, solutions, and variations. This is not a coincidence and merely follows from  $\omega = d\chi$  solving  $d\omega = 0$  identically and  $\delta\chi = d\sigma$ leaving  $\omega$  invariant. However, when this is checked by crunching through *D*-calculus it appears quite a bit more impressive. This is because the linear closure condition  $d\omega = 0$  is not necessarily linear in *D*'s when expressed in terms of superfields. Closure of the 3-form involves the quadratic operator  $D^2$ , while closure of the 1-form is cubic in *D*. This means that at each degree, the nilpotency of *d* is in terms of non-trivial higher-order *D*-identities. For example, the prepotential solution for  $W_{\alpha}$  in the super-de Rham complex works because

$$D^{\alpha}\bar{D}^{2}D_{\alpha} = \bar{D}_{\dot{\alpha}}D^{2}\bar{D}^{\dot{\alpha}}.$$
(3.12)

Since this is equivalent to the nilpotency relation  $d(dF) \equiv 0$  (for deg(F) = 1), we did not need to know (3.12) to write down the prepotential solution. In more complicated superspaces (e.g., higher-dimensional, N > 1, curved, etc.) these identities are often significantly more complicated and ways to avoid having to rely on them are subsequently more valuable. Without this geometric perspective, checking things as simple as gauge covariance can become forbiddingly involved.

Returning to the matter at hand, the procedure above gives irreducible, off-shell representations of the Poincaré group. Achieving these properties required that certain lowerdimensional components of the superform vanish. This condition is not preserved by the wedge product, as is easy to see by considering the product of two 1-form field-strengths Fand F': the lowest non-vanishing components are  $\mathbf{F}_{ss} = F_s F'_s$ ,  $\mathbf{F}_{s\bar{s}} = F_s F'_{\bar{s}}$  and their conjugates. This is in contradiction with the conditions for an irreducible 2-form field-strength since, as we see from the second row of table 1, the lowest-dimension non-vanishing component of an irreducible, closed 2-form is  $F_{s\psi}$ . Contrary to the case of ordinary de Rham forms then, irreducible superforms do not give rise to a differential graded superalgebra. In section 4 we will construct superspace actions from closed irreducible 4-forms. To apply this to composite forms we will have to address this apparent obstruction to irreducibility.

#### 3.1 Differential supergeometry of tensor hierarchies

We are now in a position to complete the geometrization of the non-abelian tensor hierarchies reviewed in section 3.1. At the most abstract level such hierarchies are double complices of superspace de Rham forms (3.4) with values in a differential complex of representations  $GL(K^i)$  of some Lie algebra [14]:

$$K^{\bullet} : 0 \longrightarrow K^{0} \xrightarrow{q} K^{1} \xrightarrow{q} K^{2} \xrightarrow{q} K^{3} \longrightarrow \dots$$
(3.13)

When the Lie algebra is gauged, the de Rham operator  $d \to \mathcal{D}$  acquires a connection and the new differential q must commute (in the appropriately graded sense) with this covariant exterior derivative [13].

A large family of realizations of this setup arise in compactification scenarios in which a higher-dimensional theory of differential forms is reduced on a super-vector bundle over a smooth bosonic base Y of some dimension n. Then the representation spaces  $K^i = \Omega^i(Y)$ are the spaces of forms on Y and the differential q is the de Rham operator on Y. The gauging is by the diffeomorphisms on Y with the gauge field identified with the mixed components of the frame (with one leg in the tangent directions of the base and one in the superspace fiber). In the apparently more general situation of the abstract hierarchy, the notation needed to keep track of the many ingredients defining the representation complex and gauging can be quite cumbersome. To avoid this, we will proceed using the notation and language arising from compactifications.<sup>7</sup>

A q-form of the abelian hierarchy is a sum of super-p-forms with values in  $\Omega^{q-p}(Y)$  for  $p = 0, \ldots, q$ ,

$$\Omega^q = \bigoplus_{p=0}^q \Omega^p(\mathbf{R}^{4|4}) \otimes \Omega^{q-p}(Y).$$
(3.14)

Denoting, as in section 2, the de Rham operator on Y by  $\partial$ , the differential Q on this abelian hierarchy is

$$Q = d + q, \quad \text{with} \quad q = (-1)^{p+1} \partial \quad \text{on} \quad \Omega^p(\mathbf{R}^{4|4}) \otimes \Omega^{q-p}(Y). \tag{3.15}$$

Here d is the superspace de Rham operator acting on superforms as defined by (3.10) and the alternating sign is needed to have q anti-commute with d. Redoing the analysis of closed (q + 1)-form field-strengths for this complex is unnecessary since this is just the usual double complex construction in which QF = 0 is solved by F = QA for some q-form

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>This is much less of a restriction than it may initially seem since it applies to any situation in which the complex (3.13) admits a free resolution [29]. In this case there will be an analog of Y with its local coordinate derivatives and 1-forms so that we can continue to use the concepts and notation from compactifications for this new formal bosonic space.

 $A.^8$  In terms of prepotentials, one sees that this is (2.5) with  $\mathcal{W}^{\alpha}$  turned off. We note that F now also has a degree-zero part

$$F^{(0)} = (QC)^{(0)} = \partial C^{(0)} = \frac{1}{2}(E + \bar{E}), \text{ where } E = \partial \Phi.$$
 (3.16)

Gauge symmetry again takes the form  $\delta C = Q\Lambda$ , where  $\Lambda^{(p-1)}$  is obtained from the expressions for  $C^{(p-1)}$  by substituting the gauge parameter superfields  $\Lambda$ , L,  $\Upsilon^{\alpha}$ ,  $\Xi$ , and  $\Pi$  in for the prepotentials  $\Phi$ , V,  $\Sigma^{\alpha}$ , X, and  $\Gamma$  respectively. The invariance of the superforms  $F^{(p+1)}$  again follows from nilpotence of the differential,  $Q^2 = 0$ .

Gauging the hierarchy means that we replace the superspace de Rham differential  $d \rightarrow d_A$  with the gauge-covariant exterior derivative defined by (2.1). This is no longer a differential, since

$$d_{\mathcal{A}}^2 = -\mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{F}},\tag{3.17}$$

where  $\mathcal{F}$  is the non-abelian super-2-form field-strength related to the superfield  $\mathcal{W}$  of section 2 by  $\mathcal{F}_{s\psi} = s\sigma_{\psi}\bar{\mathcal{W}}$  (cf. table 1). Using the compactification language, we may think of  $\mathcal{F}$  as a super-2-form valued in vector fields on Y so that it is sensible to contract it with forms on Y. A differential can then be constructed as

$$Q = d_{\mathcal{A}} + q + \iota_{\mathcal{F}},\tag{3.18}$$

where the contraction operator is such that [13]

$$q\iota_{\mathcal{F}} + \iota_{\mathcal{F}}q = \mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{F}}.\tag{3.19}$$

Explicitly, the contraction term acts on superforms by

$$\iota_{\mathcal{F}}\omega_{s\dots s\bar{s}\dots\bar{s}\psi\dots\psi} = (-1)^{v+1} tv(\iota_{\mathcal{F}_{s\psi}})\omega_{s\dots s\bar{s}\dots\bar{s}\psi\dots\psi} + (-1)^{v+1} uv(\iota_{\mathcal{F}_{\bar{s}\psi}})\omega_{s\dots s\bar{s}\dots\bar{s}\psi\dots\psi} + \frac{1}{2}(-1)^{p+1} v(v-1)(\iota_{\mathcal{F}_{\psi\psi}})\omega_{s\dots s\bar{s}\dots\bar{s}\psi\dots\psi}.$$
(3.20)

Having constructed a covariant superspace differential (3.18), the rest is straightforward. Gauge transformations, gauge-covariant field-strengths, and Bianchi identities are all given in terms of Q. We collect the explicit expressions for the superform gauge fields and field-strengths in appendix A. The covariant constraints coming from superform closure are displayed in (2.6). (To see how exactly these constraints arise, see §5 of [30].)

#### 4 Ectoplasm

The ectoplasm formalism [20, 21] is a way of constructing supersymmetric *D*-dimensional actions from closed, irreducible superforms of degree *D*. Specializing to D = 4, let us first consider the case of standard super-de Rham cohomology. Suppose *J* is a closed super-4-form and define

$$S_J := \frac{1}{24} \int d^4 x \varepsilon^{abcd} J_{abcd} |.$$
(4.1)

<sup>8</sup>Explicitly,  $F = \sum_{p=0}^{q+1} F_{[p,q+1-p]}$  with  $F_{[p,q]} = dA_{[p-1,q]} + (-1)^{p+1} \partial A_{[p,q-1]}$  for  $A = \sum_{p=0}^{q} A_{[p,q-p]}$ .

This is supersymmetric because under a supersymmetry transformation we have

$$\delta S_J = \frac{1}{24} \varepsilon^{\hat{\alpha}} \int d^4 x \varepsilon^{abcd} Q_{\hat{\alpha}} J_{abcd} \Big| = \frac{1}{24} \varepsilon^{\hat{\alpha}} \int d^4 x \varepsilon^{abcd} D_{\hat{\alpha}} J_{abcd} \Big| = \frac{1}{6} \varepsilon^{\hat{\alpha}} \int d^4 x \varepsilon^{abcd} \partial_a J_{\hat{\alpha}bcd} \Big| = 0,$$
(4.2)

where for brevity we combined  $\varepsilon^{\hat{\alpha}}Q_{\hat{\alpha}} \equiv \varepsilon^{\alpha}Q_{\alpha} + \bar{\varepsilon}_{\dot{\alpha}}Q^{\dot{\alpha}}$ . Here the second equality holds because  $\bar{Q}$  and  $\bar{D}$  differ by a spacetime derivative, while the third equality holds by closure:  $0 = (dJ)_{\dot{\alpha}abcd} = \bar{D}_{\dot{\alpha}}J_{abcd} - 4\partial_{[a}J_{[\dot{\alpha}|bcd]}$ . Furthermore, if the lowest-dimension non-vanishing components of J are  $J_{\dot{\alpha}\dot{\beta}ab} = -4(\bar{\sigma}_{ab})_{\dot{\alpha}\dot{\beta}}J_0$  and its conjugate (as is the case if J is irreducible, as shown in table 1), then  $J_0$  will be a chiral superfield and the highest-dimension component of J will be  $J_{abcd} = \frac{i}{8}\varepsilon_{abcd}(D^2J_0 - \bar{D}^2\bar{J}_0)$ . Therefore, the action (4.1) takes the manifestly supersymmetric form

$$S_J = \operatorname{Re}\left[i\int d^4x d^2\theta J_0\right].$$
(4.3)

Note that  $S_{dL} = 0$  for any globally defined 3-form L. We can use this as follows: as pointed out in section 3, if the closed super-4-form J is obtained from lower-degree forms by wedging,  $J_{\dot{\alpha}\dot{\beta}ab}$  will generally not be the lowest-dimensional component. Then we can try to shift J by an exact form, J' = J - dL (for some gauge-invariant 3-form L), so that the lowest dimensional component of J' is  $J'_{\dot{\alpha}\dot{\beta}ab}$ . In this case,

$$S_J = S_{J'} = \operatorname{Re}\left[i\int d^4x d^2\theta J_0'\right].$$
(4.4)

We now extend this construction to the non-abelian hierarchy.

The ectoplasmic invariants for the non-abelian tensor hierarchy are the natural analogs of (4.1) suggested by the substitution  $d \to Q$ . More specifically, the condition is that if  $\{J^{(p)}\}_{p=0}^{D}$  is a collection of superforms with bi-degree (p, D-p) and with  $(QJ)^{(5)} = 0$ , then

$$S_J = \frac{1}{24} \int d^4x \int_M \varepsilon^{abcd} J^{(4)}_{abcd} | \qquad (4.5)$$

is a supersymmetric action. Moreover, if the lowest-dimension component of  $J^{(4)}$  is  $J^{(4)}_{\dot{\alpha}\dot{\beta}ab} = -4(\bar{\sigma}_{ab})_{\dot{\alpha}\dot{\beta}}J_0$  then

$$\bar{\mathcal{D}}_{\dot{\alpha}}J_0 = 0, \quad S_J = \operatorname{Re}\left[i\int d^4x d^2\theta \int_M J_0\right].$$
(4.6)

The proofs of these statements follow the same steps as above, but with some extra terms getting dropped. For instance,

$$\delta S_J = \frac{1}{24} \bar{\varepsilon}^{\dot{\alpha}} \int d^4x \int_M \varepsilon^{abcd} \bar{Q}_{\dot{\alpha}} J^{(4)}_{abcd} \Big| = \frac{1}{24} \bar{\varepsilon}^{\dot{\alpha}} \int d^4x \int_M \varepsilon^{abcd} \bar{D}_{\dot{\alpha}} J^{(4)}_{abcd} \Big| = \frac{1}{24} \bar{\varepsilon}^{\dot{\alpha}} \int d^4x \int_M \varepsilon^{abcd} (4\mathcal{D}_a J^{(4)}_{\dot{\alpha}bcd} + \partial J^{(5)}_{\dot{\alpha}abcd} + 4(\iota_{\mathcal{F}})_{\dot{\alpha}a} J^{(3)}_{bcd}) \Big| = 0.$$
(4.7)

Here the first term vanishes because it is a combination of a total spacetime derivative and a piece that is a Lie derivative of a top form on M. The second term vanishes because it is a total derivative on M. Finally, the last form  $J^{(3)}$  must be zero because it is a bosonic (D-3)-form on a (D-4)-dimensional manifold. The other proofs proceed similarly. By using the same manipulations, we can also show that if the polyform J is Q-exact then  $S_J = 0$ .

# 4.1 Weil triviality

Our interest is in supersymmetrizing Chern-Simons actions. The basic bosonic action can be given by defining a Chern-Simons super(-poly)form using the potential and field-strength superforms  $C = \sum_{p} C^{(p)}$  and  $F = \sum_{p} F^{(p)}$ ,

$$\omega_n = C \wedge F^{n-1},\tag{4.8}$$

and then integrating  $\omega_n^{(4)}$  over four-dimensional spacetime and the internal space,

$$S_{CS,n} = \frac{1}{24} \int d^4 x \varepsilon^{abcd} \int_M \omega_{n\,abcd}^{(4)} |. \tag{4.9}$$

This action is gauge invariant under both the non-abelian gauge transformations (since it is invariant under internal diffeomorphisms by construction) and under the abelian gauge transformations which leave F invariant and transform C by  $\delta C = Q\Lambda$ . To see this,

$$\delta S_{CS,n} = \frac{1}{24} \int d^4 x \varepsilon^{abcd} \int_M (\mathcal{Q}(\Lambda \wedge F^{n-1}))_{abcd} \Big| = 0, \qquad (4.10)$$

where we exploit the fact that the integral of a Q-exact form is zero from integration by parts on spacetime and on the internal manifold, and the fact that a top (bosonic) form cannot be the contraction of anything.

Of course  $\omega_n$  is not  $\mathcal{Q}$ -closed in general, and in particular  $(\mathcal{Q}\omega_n)^{(5)} \neq 0$  except in the trivial case of n = 1, so  $S_{CS,n}$  is not supersymmetric in general. The case n = 1 is special and does give a supersymmetric result

$$S_{SCS,1} = S_{CS,1} = \frac{1}{24} \int d^4 x \varepsilon^{abcd} \int_M C^{(4)}_{abcd} = \operatorname{Re}\left[i \int d^4 x d^2 \theta \int_M \Gamma\right].$$
(4.11)

For n > 1, the act of supersymmetrization involves finding a different polyform  $K_n$  that is invariant under abelian gauge transformations and satisfies  $\mathcal{Q}K_n = F^n = \mathcal{Q}\omega_n$ . (Actually we only need it to hold in degree five,  $(\mathcal{Q}K_n)^{(5)} = (F^n)^{(5)}$ .) In this case the form  $J_n = \omega_n - K_n$  is  $\mathcal{Q}$ -closed and can be used to build a supersymmetric, gauge-invariant action. The existence of the gauge-invariant class K is a phenomenon known as Weil triviality [19].

We will use (relative [31]) cohomology [32, 33] to construct the relevant superinvariants. This was applied to the construction of Chern-Simons-like invariants in [16–18] based on earlier work on Weil triviality [19]. In the next section we will implement this procedure in the case of the quadratic and higher-order Chern-Simons actions.

#### 5 All Chern-Simons actions

In this section we prove Claim 1 in subsection 5.1 and use it to find all possible Chern-Simons-like invariants of the form (2.7) in subsection 5.2. The two subsections are independent and so the reader interested only in the solution can skip directly to subsection 5.2.

We begin by dispensing with an ambiguity in the formalism of section 2: suppose we have another set of globally defined (so built from the basic field-strengths E, U,  $W^{\alpha}$ , H, and G) composite superfields { $\phi, v, \sigma^{\alpha}, x, \gamma$ }. Then we can always get a solution to (2.8) by constructing { $e, u, w^{\alpha}, h, g$ } from { $\phi, v, \sigma^{\alpha}, x, \gamma$ } in the same way that the set { $E, U, W^{\alpha}, H, G$ } is constructed from { $\Phi, V, \Sigma^{\alpha}, X, \Gamma$ } in (2.5). That is, the composite fieldstrengths would be exact in the *field-strengths*, not the prepotentials. The corresponding action (2.7) can then be written, after integrations by parts, in terms of field-strengths alone. So if we are interested in super-Chern-Simons actions which are not equivalent to completely gauge-invariant constructions, then such actions are trivial. This is consistent with the cohomological formulation of Chern-Simons actions presented in [13].

Moreover, an "exact" (in the cohomological sense) composite action of this sort can even give zero contribution to the action. For constructions involving dimensional reduction, where we expect the composite fields to be internal forms of the appropriate degree and we restrict the engineering dimension to match the standard Chern-Simons action, this can only happen in contributions to x. In particular, we can have

$$x = \sum_{k=0}^{n-3} a_k E^k \bar{E}^{n-3-k} U H + \sum_{k=0}^{n-4} (b_k E^k \bar{E}^{n-4-k} U \mathcal{D}^{\alpha} U W_{\alpha} + \text{c.c.}) + \sum_{k=0}^{n-5} (c_k E^k \bar{E}^{n-5-k} U \mathcal{D}^{\alpha} U \bar{\mathcal{D}}_{\dot{\alpha}} U \mathcal{D}_{\alpha} \bar{\mathcal{D}}^{\dot{\alpha}} U + \text{c.c.}),$$
(5.1)

with  $a_k$ ,  $b_k$ , and  $c_k$  being complex constants (and with  $\bar{a}_k = a_{n-3-k}$ ). Constructing the corresponding  $h = -\partial x$  and  $g = -\frac{1}{4}\bar{D}^2 x$  and plugging into the action (2.7) gives zero after integration by parts (it will be proportional to the wedge product of two U's, which vanishes since U is an odd degree form on the internal space). We must keep this ambiguity in mind when constructing solutions to (2.8).

#### 5.1 Proof of claim 1

As mentioned below Claim 1, the most obvious way to verify the stated recursion relations is to plug them into the Bianchi identities and check that they are satisfied identically. Doing so would prove the claim but does not give any insight into how the recursion relation is found or why a solution may be expected to exist in the first place, so we have decided to present a constructive proof in terms of the supergeometry underlying the nonabelian tensor hierarchy instead. The proof of the all-orders action (section 5.1.2) is longer and more technical than that for the quadratic action (section 5.1.1) so we present the latter first.

#### 5.1.1 Quadratic action

We need to find a polyform  $K_2$  which is gauge invariant (so only constructed out of fieldstrength superfields), and that satisfies  $(\mathcal{Q}K_2)^{(5)} = (F^2)^{(5)}$ . Because of the way the  $\mathcal{Q}$ operator mixes different degrees, we must proceed systematically. Define the *weight* of a superform component to be the sum of the number of vector and un-dotted spinor indices. Then any component of  $\mathcal{Q}K_2$  of weight w only depends on components of  $K_2$  whose weights are less than or equal to w (cf. eq. (3.10)). For this reason, we can build  $K_2$  starting with the lowest weights. Within a given weight, we start at the highest degree and work down. The components of the superforms used here are reviewed and defined in appendix A.

The lowest-weight component of  $(F^2)^{(5)}$  is

$$(F^2)^{(5)}_{\bar{s}\bar{s}\bar{s}\psi\psi} = 6F^{(1)}_{\bar{s}}F^{(4)}_{\bar{s}\bar{s}\psi\psi} = 24i(\bar{\sigma}_{\psi\psi})_{\bar{s}\bar{s}}\bar{\mathcal{D}}_{\bar{s}}UG.$$
(5.2)

Comparing with<sup>9</sup>

$$\left(\mathcal{Q}K_2\right)_{\bar{s}\bar{s}\bar{s}\psi\psi}^{(5)} = 3\bar{\mathcal{D}}_{\bar{s}}K_2^{(4)}_{\bar{s}\bar{s}\bar{s}\psi\psi},\tag{5.3}$$

we deduce that we can set

$$K_{2\,\bar{s}\bar{s}\psi\psi}^{(4)} = 8i(\bar{\sigma}_{\psi\psi})_{\bar{s}\bar{s}}UG.$$

$$(5.4)$$

We now have the relevant components of a polyform  $J_2 = \omega_2 - K_2$  satisfying  $(\mathcal{Q}J_2)^{(5)} = 0$ , but we still need to put it in the form where we can read off the action. (The remaining, higher-weight components of  $K_2$  necessary to fully fix  $(\mathcal{Q}J_2)^{(5)} = 0$  do not enter into the following analysis so we will not bother to present them here.) To do this, we must remove the component  $J_{2s\bar{s}\bar{s}\psi}^{(4)}$  by subtracting an exact piece  $(\mathcal{Q}L_2)^{(4)}$  which will not affect the action. We have

$$J_{2s\bar{s}\bar{s}\psi}^{(4)} = -2C_{\bar{s}}^{(1)}F_{s\bar{s}\psi}^{(3)} + 2C_{s\bar{s}\psi}^{(3)}F_{\bar{s}}^{(1)} = -2(\sigma_{\psi})_{s\bar{s}}\bar{\mathcal{D}}_{\bar{s}}VH + 2(\sigma_{\psi})_{s\bar{s}}X\bar{\mathcal{D}}_{\bar{s}}U.$$
(5.5)

We can remove this by choosing a polyform  $L_2$  with no weight zero or one components, and whose first weight two component is

$$L_{2\bar{s}\psi\psi}^{(3)} = -i(\bar{\sigma}_{\psi\psi})^{\dot{\alpha}}{}_{\bar{s}}(\bar{\mathcal{D}}_{\dot{\alpha}}VH - X\bar{\mathcal{D}}_{\dot{\alpha}}U).$$
(5.6)

Then the action can be read off from the component

$$(J_{2} - \mathcal{Q}L_{2})_{\bar{s}\bar{s}\bar{\psi}\psi}^{(4)} = C^{(0)}F_{\bar{s}\bar{s}\psi\psi}^{(4)} - 2C_{\bar{s}}^{(1)}F_{\bar{s}\psi\psi}^{(3)} - 8C_{\bar{s}\psi}^{(2)}F_{\bar{s}\psi}^{(2)} - 2C_{\bar{s}\psi\psi}^{(3)}F_{\bar{s}}^{(1)} + C_{\bar{s}\bar{s}\psi\psi}^{(4)}F^{(0)} - K_{2\bar{s}\bar{s}\bar{s}\psi\psi}^{(4)} - 2\bar{D}_{\bar{s}}L_{\bar{s}\psi\psi}^{(3)} = -4(\bar{\sigma}_{\psi\psi})_{\bar{s}\bar{s}} \left[ \Phi G + \Sigma^{\alpha}W_{\alpha} + \Gamma E + \frac{i}{4}\bar{D}^{2}(VH - XU) \right].$$
(5.7)

Note that all explicit  $\partial$ 's and  $\iota$ 's have canceled out of this expression.

This leads to the action

$$S = \operatorname{Re}\left[i\int d^4x d^2\theta \int_M (\Phi G + \Sigma^{\alpha} W_{\alpha} + \Gamma E)\right] + \int d^4x d^4\theta \int_M (VH - XU).$$
(5.8)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup>We can assume that  $K_2$  has no components of weight zero above degree two, weight one above degree three, or weight two above degree four since they are not required to match any non-zero components of  $(F^2)^{(5)}$ .

# 5.1.2 Higher-order actions

Now we will show that the procedure above can be adapted for higher orders in the number of fields as well. By our previous arguments and the structure of Q-cohomology, it will always be possible to find polyforms  $K_n$  and  $L_n$  such that  $J_n = \omega_n - K_n$  satisfies  $(QJ_n)^{(5)} =$ 0 and  $(J_n - QL_n)^{(4)}$  has  $(J_n - QL_n)_{\bar{ss}\psi\psi}^{(4)} = -4(\bar{\sigma}_{\psi\psi})_{\bar{ss}}J_{n0}$  as its lowest non-vanishing component. In practice however, this can be very computationally intensive for n > 3 and is a significant calculation even for n = 3. However, we will argue that there is a shortcut. Suppose one can find a gauge-invariant polyform  $M_n$  such that  $\mathbf{F}_n = F^{n-1} - QM_n$  has the same components as F. That is,

- the only weight zero components of  $\mathbf{F}_n$  are  $\mathbf{F}_{n\bar{s}}^{(1)} = -i\bar{\mathcal{D}}u_n$  and  $\mathbf{F}_n^{(0)} = \frac{1}{2}(e_n + \bar{e}_n)$ , where  $u_n$  is a real superfield and  $e_n$  is chiral;
- the only weight one component of  $\mathbf{F}_n$  above degree one is  $\mathbf{F}_{n\,\bar{s}\psi}^{(2)} = -(\sigma_\psi)_{\alpha\bar{s}}(w_n^{\alpha} i(\iota_{\mathcal{W}})^{\alpha}u_n)$ , where  $w_n^{\alpha}$  is chiral;
- the only weight two components of  $\mathbf{F}_n$  above degree two are  $\mathbf{F}_{n\,\bar{s}\bar{s}\psi\psi}^{(4)} = -4(\bar{\sigma}_{\psi\psi})_{\bar{s}\bar{s}}g_n$ ,  $\mathbf{F}_{n\,\bar{s}\bar{s}\psi}^{(3)} = i(\sigma_{\psi})_{s\bar{s}}h_n$ , and  $\mathbf{F}_{n\,\bar{s}\psi\psi}^{(3)} = -(\bar{\sigma}_{\psi\psi})^{\dot{\alpha}}{}_{\bar{s}}\bar{\mathcal{D}}_{\dot{\alpha}}h_n$ , where  $g_n$  is chiral and  $h_n$  is real;
- and the superfields  $e_n$ ,  $u_n$ ,  $w_n^{\alpha}$ ,  $h_n$ , and  $g_n$  are gauge-invariant composites, constructed from (and of degree n-1 in) the field-strengths  $\{E, U, W^{\alpha}, H, G\}$ .

If we can find such an  $M_n$ , then we have

$$\omega_n = C \wedge \mathbf{F}_n - \mathcal{Q}(C \wedge M_n) + F \wedge M_n.$$
(5.9)

The third term above is already completely gauge invariant and corresponds to adding a piece to the action which can be written purely in terms of field-strengths (and hence represents an ambiguity in the super-Chern-Simons action). The second term is  $\mathcal{Q}$ -exact and hence will not contribute to the action. Thus, we are free to replace  $\omega_n$  by  $C \wedge \mathbf{F}_n$ in our construction of  $J_n$ . Once we have done that, the procedure to find the action proceeds exactly as in the quadratic case. In particular, we need to find  $K_n$  such that  $(\mathcal{Q}K_n)^{(5)} = F \wedge \mathbf{F}_n$ . The only component we need comes from

$$(F \wedge \mathbf{F}_n)_{\bar{s}\bar{s}\bar{s}\psi\psi}^{(5)} = 3F_{\bar{s}}^{(1)}\mathbf{F}_{n\,\bar{s}\bar{s}\psi\psi}^{(4)} + 3F_{\bar{s}\bar{s}\psi\psi}^{(4)}\mathbf{F}_{n\,\bar{s}}^{(1)} = 12i(\bar{\sigma}_{\psi\psi})_{\bar{s}\bar{s}}(\bar{\mathcal{D}}_{\bar{s}}Ug_n + G\bar{\mathcal{D}}_{\bar{s}}u_n), \quad (5.10)$$

leading to

$$K_{n\,\bar{s}\bar{s}\psi\psi}^{(4)} = 4i(\bar{\sigma}_{\psi\psi})_{\bar{s}\bar{s}}(Ug_n + Gu_n).$$
(5.11)

To get rid of

$$J_{n\,s\bar{s}\bar{s}\bar{\psi}}^{(4)} = -2C_{\bar{s}}^{(1)}\mathbf{F}_{n\,s\bar{s}\psi}^{(3)} + 2C_{s\bar{s}\psi}^{(3)}\mathbf{F}_{n\,\bar{s}}^{(1)} = -2(\sigma_{\psi})_{s\bar{s}}(\bar{\mathcal{D}}_{\bar{s}}Vh_n - X\bar{\mathcal{D}}_{\bar{s}}u_n),$$
(5.12)

we set

$$L_{n\,\bar{s}\psi\psi}^{(3)} = -i(\bar{\sigma}_{\psi\psi})^{\dot{\alpha}}{}_{\bar{s}}(\bar{\mathcal{D}}_{\dot{\alpha}}Vh_n - X\bar{\mathcal{D}}_{\dot{\alpha}}u_n).$$
(5.13)

Putting the pieces together, this gives

$$J_{n0} = \Phi g_n + \Sigma^{\alpha} w_{n\alpha} + \Gamma e_n + \frac{i}{4} \bar{\mathcal{D}}^2 (V h_n - X u_n), \qquad (5.14)$$

and

$$S_{SCS,n} = \operatorname{Re}\left[i\int d^4x d^2\theta \int_M (\Phi g_n + \Sigma^{\alpha} w_{n\,\alpha} + \Gamma e_n)\right] + \int d^4x d^4\theta \int_M (Vh_n - Xu_n).$$
(5.15)

What remains is to find  $M_n$  and the components of  $\mathbf{F}_n$ . Suppose that we have already found the solution for n-1. We need  $M_n$  to satisfy

$$\mathcal{Q}M_n = F^{n-1} - \mathbf{F}_n = F \wedge F^{n-2} - \mathbf{F}_n = F \wedge \mathbf{F}_{n-1} + \mathcal{Q}(F \wedge M_{n-1}) - \mathbf{F}_n, \qquad (5.16)$$

so we can set  $M_n = F \wedge M_{n-1} + \delta M$ , where  $\delta M$  is such that  $F \wedge \mathbf{F}_{n-1} - \mathcal{Q}(\delta M)$  has the same components as F. But this is a short task since both F and  $\mathbf{F}_{n-1}$  have been put into the same simple form and so the procedure to find  $\delta M$  is the same as finding  $K_2$ , though here we need to find more components. As we construct  $\delta M$ , we can also read off the components of  $\mathbf{F}_n = F \wedge \mathbf{F}_{n-1} - \mathcal{Q}\delta M$ .

Starting with weight zero, we have at degree two

$$(F \wedge \mathbf{F}_{n-1})_{\bar{s}\bar{s}}^{(2)} = 2F_{\bar{s}}^{(1)}\mathbf{F}_{n-1\,\bar{s}}^{(1)} = 2\bar{\mathcal{D}}_{\bar{s}}U\bar{\mathcal{D}}_{\bar{s}}u_{n-1},$$
(5.17)

leading to

$$\delta M_{\bar{s}}^{(1)} = U \bar{\mathcal{D}}_{\bar{s}} u_{n-1}. \tag{5.18}$$

At degree one we have

$$(F \wedge \mathbf{F}_{n-1} - \mathcal{Q}\delta M)_{\bar{s}}^{(1)} = F^{(0)}\mathbf{F}_{n-1\,\bar{s}}^{(1)} + F_{\bar{s}}^{(1)}\mathbf{F}_{n-1}^{(0)} + \partial\delta M_{\bar{s}}^{(1)}$$
  
$$= -\frac{i}{2}(E + \bar{E})\bar{\mathcal{D}}_{\bar{s}}u_{n-1} - \frac{i}{2}\bar{\mathcal{D}}_{\bar{s}}U(e_{n-1} + \bar{e}_{n-1})$$
  
$$+ \partial U\bar{\mathcal{D}}_{\bar{s}}u_{n-1} - U\bar{\mathcal{D}}_{\bar{s}}\partial u_{n-1}$$
  
$$= -iE\bar{\mathcal{D}}_{\bar{s}}u_{n-1} - \frac{i}{2}\bar{\mathcal{D}}_{\bar{s}}Ue_{n-1} - \frac{i}{2}\bar{\mathcal{D}}_{\bar{s}}U\bar{e}_{n-1} - \frac{i}{2}U\bar{\mathcal{D}}_{\bar{s}}\bar{e}_{n-1}$$
  
$$= -i\bar{\mathcal{D}}_{\bar{s}}u_{n} + \bar{\mathcal{D}}_{\bar{s}}\delta M^{(0)}, \qquad (5.19)$$

where

$$u_n = \frac{1}{2}(E+\bar{E})u_{n-1} + \frac{1}{2}U(e_{n-1}+\bar{e}_{n-1}), \quad \delta M^{(0)} = -\frac{i}{2}(E-\bar{E})u_{n-1}, \quad (5.20)$$

and where we made use of the Bianchi identities

$$\partial U = -\frac{i}{2}(E - \bar{E}), \quad \partial u_{n-1} = -\frac{i}{2}(e_{n-1} - \bar{e}_{n-1}),$$
(5.21)

which are simply a consequence of the Q-closure of F and  $\mathbf{F}_{n-1}$ , respectively. The final weight zero piece is at degree zero,

$$(F \wedge \mathbf{F}_{n-1} - \mathcal{Q}M)^{(0)} = F^{(0)}\mathbf{F}_{n-1}^{(0)} - \partial \delta M^{(0)}$$
  
=  $\frac{1}{4}(E + \bar{E})(e_{n-1} + \bar{e}_{n-1}) + \frac{i}{2}(E - \bar{E})\partial u_{n-1}$   
=  $\frac{1}{2}(e_n + \bar{e}_n),$  (5.22)

where

$$e_n = Ee_{n-1}.\tag{5.23}$$

Note that we have now derived the recursion relations (2.9) for  $e_n$  and  $u_n$ . Proceeding with weight one, we have at degree three,

$$(F \wedge \mathbf{F}_{n-1} - \mathcal{Q}\delta M)_{\bar{s}\bar{s}\psi}^{(3)} = 2F_{\bar{s}}^{(1)}\mathbf{F}_{n-1\,\bar{s}\psi}^{(2)} - 2F_{\bar{s}\psi}^{(2)}\mathbf{F}_{n-1\,\bar{s}}^{(1)} - 2(\iota_{\mathcal{F}})_{\bar{s}\psi}\delta M_{\bar{s}}^{(1)}$$
  
$$= 2i(\sigma_{\psi})_{\alpha\bar{s}}(\bar{\mathcal{D}}_{\bar{s}}U(w_{n-1}^{\alpha} - i(\iota_{\mathcal{W}})^{\alpha}u_{n-1}))$$
  
$$- (W^{\alpha} - i(\iota_{\mathcal{W}})^{\alpha}U)\bar{\mathcal{D}}_{\bar{s}}u_{n-1})$$
  
$$+ 2(\sigma_{\psi})_{\alpha\bar{s}}(\iota_{\mathcal{W}})^{\alpha}(U\bar{\mathcal{D}}_{\bar{s}}u_{n-1})$$
  
$$= 2i(\sigma_{\psi})_{\alpha\bar{s}}(\bar{\mathcal{D}}_{\bar{s}}Uw_{n-1}^{\alpha} - W^{\alpha}\bar{\mathcal{D}}_{\bar{s}}u_{n-1})$$
  
$$- i\bar{\mathcal{D}}_{\bar{s}}U(\iota_{\mathcal{W}})^{\alpha}u_{n-1} - iU\bar{\mathcal{D}}_{\bar{s}}(\iota_{\mathcal{W}})^{\alpha}u_{n-1}), \qquad (5.24)$$

which leads to

$$\delta M_{\bar{s}\psi}^{(2)} = i(\sigma_{\psi})_{\alpha\bar{s}} (Uw_{n-1}^{\alpha} + W^{\alpha}u_{n-1} - iU(\iota_{\mathcal{W}})^{\alpha}u_{n-1}).$$
(5.25)

At degree two — recalling that  $M_s^{(1)}$  is fixed to be the conjugate of  $M_{\bar{s}}^{(1)}$  since all of our superforms are real —

$$(F \wedge \mathbf{F}_{n-1} - \mathcal{Q}\delta M)_{s\bar{s}}^{(2)} = -F_s^{(1)}\mathbf{F}_{n-1\bar{s}}^{(1)} - F_{\bar{s}}^{(1)}\mathbf{F}_{n-1\bar{s}}^{(1)} - \mathcal{D}_s\delta M_{\bar{s}}^{(1)} - \bar{\mathcal{D}}_{\bar{s}}\delta M_s^{(1)}$$
  
$$= -\mathcal{D}_s U\bar{\mathcal{D}}_{\bar{s}}u_{n-1} - \bar{\mathcal{D}}_{\bar{s}}U\mathcal{D}_s u_{n-1}$$
  
$$-\mathcal{D}_s (U\bar{\mathcal{D}}_{\bar{s}}u_{n-1}) - \bar{\mathcal{D}}_{\bar{s}}(U\mathcal{D}_s u_{n-1}), \qquad (5.26)$$

which can be canceled by choosing

$$\delta M_{\psi}^{(1)} = -\frac{i}{2} (\sigma_{\psi})_{\alpha \dot{\alpha}} (\mathcal{D}^{\alpha} U \bar{\mathcal{D}}^{\dot{\alpha}} u_{n-1} + \bar{\mathcal{D}}^{\dot{\alpha}} U \mathcal{D}^{\alpha} u_{n-1} + \frac{1}{2} U \{ \mathcal{D}^{\alpha}, \bar{\mathcal{D}}^{\dot{\alpha}} \} u_{n-1} ).$$
(5.27)

We can then read off  $w_n^{\alpha}$  from

$$(F \wedge \mathbf{F}_{n-1} - \mathcal{Q}\delta M)_{\bar{s}\psi}^{(2)} = F^{(0)}\mathbf{F}_{n-1\,\bar{s}\psi}^{(2)} + F_{\bar{s}}^{(1)}\mathbf{F}_{n-1\,\psi}^{(1)} - F_{\psi}^{(1)}\mathbf{F}_{\bar{s}}^{(1)} + F_{\bar{s}\psi}^{(2)}\mathbf{F}_{n-1}^{(0)} - \bar{\mathcal{D}}_{\bar{s}}\delta M_{\psi}^{(1)} + \mathcal{D}_{\psi}\delta M_{\bar{s}}^{(1)} - \partial\delta M_{\bar{s}\psi}^{(2)} - (\iota_{\mathcal{F}})_{\bar{s}\psi}\delta M^{(0)} =: -i(\sigma_{\psi})_{\alpha\bar{s}}(w_{n}^{\alpha} - i(\iota_{\mathcal{W}})^{\alpha}u_{n}),$$
(5.28)

which gives (after some algebra)

$$w_n^{\alpha} = E w_{n-1}^{\alpha} + W^{\alpha} e_{n-1} + \frac{i}{4} \bar{\mathcal{D}}^2 (\mathcal{D}^{\alpha} U u_{n-1} - U \mathcal{D}^{\alpha} u_{n-1}).$$
(5.29)

Moving on to weight two, we have at degree five,

$$(F \wedge \mathbf{F}_{n-1})_{\bar{s}\bar{s}\bar{s}\bar{s}\psi\psi}^{(5)} = 3F_{\bar{s}}^{(1)}\mathbf{F}_{n-1\,\bar{s}\bar{s}\psi}^{(4)} + 3F_{\bar{s}\bar{s}\psi\psi}^{(4)}\mathbf{F}_{\bar{s}}^{(1)}$$
  
=  $12i(\bar{\sigma}_{\psi\psi})_{\bar{s}\bar{s}}(\bar{\mathcal{D}}_{\bar{s}}Ug_{n-1} + G\bar{\mathcal{D}}_{\bar{s}}u_{n-1}),$  (5.30)

which can be canceled by setting

$$\delta M_{\bar{s}\bar{s}\psi\psi}^{(4)} = 4i(\bar{\sigma}_{\psi\psi})_{\bar{s}\bar{s}}(Ug_{n-1} + Gu_{n-1}).$$
(5.31)

Going down to degree four, we must first cancel

$$(F \wedge \mathbf{F}_{n-1})_{s\bar{s}\bar{s}\psi}^{(4)} = -F_{\bar{s}}^{(1)} \mathbf{F}_{n-1\,s\bar{s}\psi}^{(3)} + F_{s\bar{s}\psi}^{(3)} \mathbf{F}_{n-1\,\bar{s}}^{(1)}$$
  
=  $(\sigma_{\psi})_{s\bar{s}} (-\bar{\mathcal{D}}_{\bar{s}} U h_{n-1} + H \bar{\mathcal{D}}_{\bar{s}} u_{n-1}),$  (5.32)

which can be done by setting

$$\delta M^{(3)}_{\bar{s}\psi\psi} = i(\bar{\sigma}_{\psi\psi})^{\dot{\alpha}}{}_{\bar{s}}(\bar{\mathcal{D}}_{\dot{\alpha}}Uh_{n-1} - H\bar{\mathcal{D}}_{\dot{\alpha}}u_{n-1}).$$
(5.33)

Then we can read off  $g_n$  from

$$(F \wedge \mathbf{F}_{n-1} - \mathcal{Q}\delta M)_{\bar{s}\bar{s}\bar{y}\psi\psi}^{(4)} = F^{(0)}\mathbf{F}_{n-1\,\bar{s}\bar{s}\bar{y}\psi\psi}^{(4)} - 2F_{\bar{s}}^{(1)}\mathbf{F}_{n-1\,\bar{s}\psi\psi}^{(3)} - 4F_{\bar{s}\psi}^{(2)}\mathbf{F}_{n-1\,\bar{s}\psi}^{(2)} - F_{\bar{s}\psi\psi}^{(3)}\mathbf{F}_{n-1\,\bar{s}}^{(1)} + F_{\bar{s}\bar{s}\bar{y}\psi\psi}^{(4)}\mathbf{F}^{(0)} - 2\bar{\mathcal{D}}_{\bar{s}}\delta M_{\bar{s}\psi\psi}^{(3)} - \partial\delta M_{\bar{s}\bar{s}\psi\psi}^{(4)} + (\iota_{\mathcal{F}})_{\bar{s}\psi}\delta M_{\bar{s}\psi}^{(2)} =: -4(\bar{\sigma}_{\psi\psi})_{\bar{s}\bar{s}}g_n,$$
(5.34)

where, again suppressing some algebra,

$$g_n = Eg_{n-1} + Ge_{n-1} + W^{\alpha}w_{n-1\,\alpha} + \frac{i}{4}\bar{\mathcal{D}}^2(Hu_{n-1} - Uh_{n-1}).$$
(5.35)

Finally, we have

$$(F \wedge \mathbf{F}_{n-1} - \mathcal{Q}M)_{s\bar{s}\psi}^{(3)} = F^{(0)}\mathbf{F}_{n-1\,s\bar{s}\psi}^{(3)} + F_{s}^{(1)}\mathbf{F}_{\bar{s}\psi}^{(2)} + F_{\bar{s}}^{(1)}\mathbf{F}_{s\psi}^{(2)} - 2F_{s\psi}^{(2)}\mathbf{F}_{\bar{s}}^{(1)} - 2F_{\bar{s}\psi}^{(2)}\mathbf{F}_{s}^{(1)} + F_{s\bar{s}\psi}^{(3)}\mathbf{F}^{(0)} - \mathcal{D}_{s}\delta M_{\bar{s}\psi}^{(2)} - \bar{\mathcal{D}}_{\bar{s}}\delta M_{s\psi}^{(2)} - (\iota_{\mathcal{F}})_{s\psi}\delta M_{\bar{s}}^{(1)} - (\iota_{\mathcal{F}})_{\bar{s}\psi}\delta M_{s}^{(1)} =: i(\sigma_{\psi})_{s\bar{s}}h_{n} + 2i\sigma_{s\bar{s}}^{a}\delta M_{\psi a}^{(2)}.$$
(5.36)

We do not have to directly compute  $\delta M_{\psi\psi}^{(2)}$  because  $h_n$  can be isolated by contracting, yielding  $h_n = \frac{i}{8} (\bar{\sigma}^a)^{\dot{\alpha}\alpha} (F \wedge \mathbf{F}_{n-1} - \mathcal{Q}M)_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}a}^{(3)}$ . This leads to

$$h_{n} = \frac{1}{2} (E + \bar{E}) h_{n-1} + \frac{1}{2} H(e_{n-1} + \bar{e}_{n-1}) + \Omega(w_{n-1}, U) + \Omega(W, u_{n-1}) - i \mathcal{D}^{\alpha} U(\iota_{\mathcal{W}})_{\alpha} u_{n-1} - i(\iota_{\mathcal{W}})^{\alpha} U \mathcal{D}_{\alpha} u_{n-1} + i \bar{\mathcal{D}}_{\dot{\alpha}} U(\iota_{\bar{\mathcal{W}}})^{\dot{\alpha}} u_{n-1} + i(\iota_{\bar{\mathcal{W}}})_{\dot{\alpha}} U \bar{\mathcal{D}}^{\dot{\alpha}} u_{n-1}$$
(5.37)

and completes the derivation of the recursion relations (2.9).

# 5.2 Solution of the recursion relations

In this section, we solve the recursion relations (2.9) to all orders in n. To do this, we will first treat n as a continuous parameter. Then the first recursion relation can be written as

$$(e^{\frac{d}{dn}} - E)e_n = 0, (5.38)$$

which has the general solution

$$e_n = cE^n \tag{5.39}$$

for some *n*-independent quantity *c*. Since we want  $e_2 = E$ , this fixes  $c = E^{-1}$  and the general solution is  $e_n = E^{n-1}$ .

Moving on to the next equation we have

$$\left(e^{\frac{d}{dn}} - \frac{E + \bar{E}}{2}\right)u_n = \frac{1}{2}(E^{n-1} + \bar{E}^{n-1})U.$$
(5.40)

In general, for constants a and b we have

$$(e^{\frac{d}{dn}} - a)^{-1}[b^n] = \begin{cases} \frac{b^n}{b-a}, & \text{if } b \neq a, \\ na^{n-1}, & \text{if } b = a. \end{cases}$$
(5.41)

Then we can find the solution for  $u_n$  by adding the homogeneous solution to a particular solution,

$$u_n = c \left(\frac{E + \bar{E}}{2}\right)^n + \frac{1}{2} \left(e^{\frac{d}{dn}} - \frac{E + \bar{E}}{2}\right)^{-1} \left[(E^{n-1} + \bar{E}^{n-1})U\right]$$
$$= c \left(\frac{E + \bar{E}}{2}\right)^n + \frac{E^{n-1} - \bar{E}^{n-1}}{E - \bar{E}}U.$$
(5.42)

Demanding that  $u_2 = U$  fixes c = 0, so

$$u_n = \frac{E^{n-1} - \bar{E}^{n-1}}{E - \bar{E}} U.$$
 (5.43)

Note that the denominator can always be canceled, so the solution is always polynomial in the fields.

Proceeding, we have

$$w_{n}^{\alpha} = c^{\alpha} E^{n} + (e^{\frac{d}{dn}} - E)^{-1} \left[ E^{n-1} W^{\alpha} - \frac{i}{2} \bar{\mathcal{D}}^{2} \left( \frac{E^{n-1} - \bar{E}^{n-1}}{E - \bar{E}} U \mathcal{D}^{\alpha} U \right) \right]$$
  
$$= c^{\alpha} E^{n} + n E^{n-2} W^{\alpha} - \frac{i}{2} \bar{\mathcal{D}}^{2} \left[ \left( \frac{n E^{n-2}}{E - \bar{E}} + \frac{\bar{E}^{n-1}}{(E - \bar{E})^{2}} \right) U \mathcal{D}^{\alpha} U \right].$$
(5.44)

Matching n = 2 requires

$$c^{\alpha} = -E^{-2}W^{\alpha} + \frac{i}{2}E^{-2}\bar{\mathcal{D}}^{2}\left(\frac{2E - \bar{E}}{(E - \bar{E})^{2}}U\mathcal{D}^{\alpha}U\right),$$
(5.45)

giving

$$w_{n}^{\alpha} = (n-1)E^{n-2}W^{\alpha} - \frac{i}{2}\bar{\mathcal{D}}^{2}\left[\left(\frac{(n-1)E^{n-2}}{E-\bar{E}} - \frac{E^{n-1}-\bar{E}^{n-1}}{(E-\bar{E})^{2}}\right)UD^{\alpha}U\right]$$
  
=  $(n-1)E^{n-2}W^{\alpha} - \frac{i}{2}\bar{\mathcal{D}}^{2}(\varepsilon_{n}U\mathcal{D}^{\alpha}U),$  (5.46)

where

$$\varepsilon_n = \frac{\partial}{\partial E} \frac{u_n}{U} = \frac{(n-1)E^{n-2}}{E - \bar{E}} - \frac{E^{n-1} - \bar{E}^{n-1}}{(E - \bar{E})^2}.$$
 (5.47)

The solutions for  $h_n$  and  $g_n$  can be obtained similarly, but the expressions are unilluminating. Instead, we will simply list the results for n = 3 and n = 4. The cubic Chern-Simons invariant is defined by the composite superfields

$$e_3 = E^2, (5.48a)$$

$$u_3 = (E + \bar{E})U, \tag{5.48b}$$

$$w_3^{\alpha} = 2EW^{\alpha} - \frac{i}{2}\bar{\mathcal{D}}^2(U\mathcal{D}^{\alpha}U), \qquad (5.48c)$$

$$h_3 = (E + \bar{E})H + 2\Omega(W, U) - 2i\mathcal{D}^{\alpha}U(\iota_{\mathcal{W}})_{\alpha}U + 2i\bar{\mathcal{D}}_{\dot{\alpha}}U(\iota_{\bar{\mathcal{W}}})^{\dot{\alpha}}U, \qquad (5.48d)$$

$$g_3 = 2EG + W^{\alpha}W_{\alpha} - \frac{i}{2}\bar{\mathcal{D}}^2(UH), \qquad (5.48e)$$

The solution agrees with the results found in [13]. The quartic Chern-Simons invariant is defined by the following solution to the descent relations:

$$e_4 = E^3,$$
 (5.49a)  
 $u_4 = (E^2 + E\bar{E} + \bar{E}^2)U,$  (5.49b)

$$\begin{split} w_{4}^{\alpha} &= 3EW^{\alpha} - \frac{i}{2}\bar{\mathcal{D}}^{2}[(2E + \bar{E})U\mathcal{D}^{\alpha}U], \\ h_{4} &= (E^{2} + E\bar{E} + \bar{E}^{2})H \\ &+ [(2E + \bar{E})(2\mathcal{D}^{\alpha}UW_{\alpha} + U\mathcal{D}^{\alpha}W_{\alpha}) + 2\mathcal{D}^{\alpha}EUW_{\alpha} + \text{c.c.}] \\ &+ \frac{i}{4}U\mathcal{D}^{\alpha}U(\bar{\mathcal{D}}^{2}\mathcal{D}_{\alpha}U - 2\bar{\mathcal{D}}_{\dot{\alpha}}\mathcal{D}_{\alpha}\bar{\mathcal{D}}^{\dot{\alpha}}U + \mathcal{D}_{\alpha}\bar{\mathcal{D}}^{2}U) \\ &- \frac{i}{4}U\bar{\mathcal{D}}_{\dot{\alpha}}U(\mathcal{D}^{2}\bar{\mathcal{D}}^{\dot{\alpha}}U - 2\mathcal{D}^{\alpha}\bar{\mathcal{D}}^{\dot{\alpha}}\mathcal{D}_{\alpha}U + \bar{\mathcal{D}}^{\dot{\alpha}}\mathcal{D}^{2}U) - iU\mathcal{D}^{\alpha}\bar{\mathcal{D}}_{\dot{\alpha}}U\bar{\mathcal{D}}^{\dot{\alpha}}\mathcal{D}_{\alpha}U \\ &+ \frac{i}{2}U\mathcal{D}^{2}U\bar{\mathcal{D}}^{2}U + i\mathcal{D}^{\alpha}U\bar{\mathcal{D}}_{\dot{\alpha}}U\mathcal{D}^{\alpha}\bar{\mathcal{D}}_{\dot{\alpha}}U - i\mathcal{D}^{\alpha}U\bar{\mathcal{D}}_{\dot{\alpha}}U\bar{\mathcal{D}}^{\dot{\alpha}}\mathcal{D}_{\alpha}U \\ &- 2i(E + \bar{E})(\mathcal{D}^{\alpha}U(\iota_{W})_{\alpha}U - \bar{\mathcal{D}}_{\dot{\alpha}}U(\iota_{\bar{W}})^{\dot{\alpha}}U) + i\mathcal{D}^{\alpha}EU(\iota_{W})_{\alpha}U \\ &- i\bar{\mathcal{D}}_{\dot{\alpha}}\bar{E}U(\iota_{\bar{W}})^{\dot{\alpha}}U - i(\iota_{W})^{\alpha}(E + \bar{E})U\mathcal{D}_{\alpha}U + i(\iota_{\bar{W}})_{\dot{\alpha}}(E + \bar{E})U\bar{\mathcal{D}}^{\dot{\alpha}}U, \quad (5.49c) \\ g_{4} &= 3E^{2}G + 3EW^{\alpha}W_{\alpha} - \frac{i}{2}\bar{\mathcal{D}}^{2}((2E + \bar{E})UH + 2U\mathcal{D}^{\alpha}UW_{\alpha} + U\bar{\mathcal{D}}_{\dot{\alpha}}U\bar{W}^{\dot{\alpha}} \\ &- iU\mathcal{D}^{\alpha}U(\iota_{W})_{\alpha}U + iU\bar{\mathcal{D}}_{\dot{\alpha}}U(\iota_{\bar{W}})^{\dot{\alpha}}U). \quad (5.49d) \end{split}$$

This result is new and would be relevant, for example, for a reduction of seven-dimensional supergravity to four dimensions.

## 6 Conclusions

In this paper we have elucidated the supergeometry underlying gauged p-form hierarchies in 4D, N = 1 superspace and used it to construct all of the associated Chern-Simons-like invariants. This was done by describing the four-dimensional part in terms of superforms and extending the resulting de Rham complex to a double complex of forms covariantly coupled to non-abelian gauge fields. This construction defines field-strengths of the superde Rham complex which can be wedged together to make superforms that extend the bosonic Chern-Simons forms. For each such Chern-Simons superform, we could construct a second manifestly gauge-covariant superform such that their difference was closed (Weil triviality). These closed forms then defined manifestly supersymmetric actions by the ectoplasm method of integration.

For the cubic Chern-Simons invariant, this procedure recovers the action first constructed in [13] and used in [23] to compute the exact scalar potential of M-theory on backgrounds with  $G_2$  structure. More generally, these constructions are expected to apply to higher-dimensional/extended supergravity theories. As an illustration of our general solution, we explicitly wrote out the quartic invariant which is new and could, in principle, be used to compute the scalar potential for seven-dimensional supergravity.

Extensions of the method to N = 2 superspace [39], 5D, N = 1 [40], and 6D, N = (1,0) [35, 36, 44, 50] should also be possible. Complications arise in these superspaces in (at least) two ways. First, if we intend to keep the representations off-shell, we must consider embeddings into projective [47–49] and harmonic [45, 46] superspaces [43]. Second, there is an additional subtlety if we wish to connect super-*p*-forms to their bosonic counterparts at the component level (although this is not necessary for the abstract construction). It is well-known that the 4D, N = 1 super-de Rham complex of irreducible super-*p*-forms defines multiplets which include bosonic *p*-forms. In superspaces with more than four supercharges this is no longer universally true. In 5D, N = 1 superspace, for example, the irreducible "3-form" is instead a multiplet of superconformal gauge parameters [27, 57].

Eventually, one would like to go beyond the computation of scalar potentials and obtain the effective action for such theories complete with gravity couplings (including all gravitino superfields). This is not trivial and it would be interesting to know what the conditions on the general hierarchy might be that would make this possible. Partial results come from minimal coupling to old-minimal supergravity [30] or, as emphasized in [25, 26], even more simply from conformal superspace [41, 42].

# Acknowledgments

WDL3 and DR are grateful to the Simons Center for Geometry and Physics for hospitality during the IX Simons Summer Workshop. SR is similarly thankful to the Mitchell Institute for hosting in-person collaboration between the authors. KB, MB, WDL3, and DR further thank the Simons Center for Geometry and Physics for generous financial and logistical support of the Simons Workshop *String Theory and Scattering Amplitudes*. This work is partially supported by NSF Focused Research Grant DMS-1159404 and the Mitchell Institute for Physics and Astronomy at Texas A&M University.

## A Superform components

In section 2, we reviewed the embedding of the bosonic p-form potentials into superfield prepotentials (cf. eq. (2.2)). In this appendix, we further embed these components and prepotentials in superforms. It is not necessary to understand the details of this embedding to construct the Chern-Simons super-invariants, but we will be explicit in our presentation as they are needed to project the superspace action to components and because we use some of the expressions here in the proofs of section 5.

We begin with the zero-form bosonic potential, the axion, which was given by

$$a = \frac{1}{2} (\Phi + \bar{\Phi}) \big|. \tag{A.1}$$

It is clear how we can lift this to a super-zero-form, also known as a superfield; we just remove the | and write

$$C^{(0)} = \frac{1}{2}(\Phi + \bar{\Phi}). \tag{A.2}$$

In this section our goal is to find superforms  $C^{(p)}$  which will have the bosonic potentials sitting in their bottom components and a set of field-strengths  $F^{(p)}$  related to them by  $F^{(p+1)} = dC^{(p)}$ . Since we have already defined  $C^{(0)}$ , we can compute

$$F_s^{(1)} = \frac{1}{2} D_s \Phi, \quad F_{\bar{s}}^{(1)} = \frac{1}{2} \bar{D}_{\bar{s}} \bar{\Phi}, \quad F_{\psi}^{(1)} = \frac{1}{2} \partial_{\psi} (\Phi + \bar{\Phi}).$$
(A.3)

With some foresight, we can rewrite these expressions in terms of the superfield  $U = (\Phi - \bar{\Phi})/2i$ ,

$$F_s^{(1)} = iD_s U, \quad F_{\bar{s}}^{(1)} = -i\bar{D}_{\bar{s}}U, \quad F_{\psi}^{(1)} = -\frac{1}{4}\bar{\sigma}_{\psi}^{\dot{\alpha}\alpha}[D_{\alpha}, \bar{D}_{\dot{\alpha}}]U.$$
(A.4)

Note the similarity between  $F_{\psi}^{(1)}$  and (2.2b). We can take this as a sign to make the (justifiable [27, 30]) ansatz that

$$C_s^{(1)} = iD_s V, \quad C_{\bar{s}}^{(1)} = -i\bar{D}_{\bar{s}}V, \quad C_{\psi}^{(1)} = -\frac{1}{4}\bar{\sigma}_{\psi}^{\dot{\alpha}\alpha}[D_{\alpha}, \bar{D}_{\dot{\alpha}}]V.$$
 (A.5)

That is, we have simply replaced U with V to go from  $F^{(1)}$  to  $C^{(1)}$ . But now that we have  $C^{(1)}$ , we can compute  $F^{(2)} = dC^{(1)}$ ,

$$F_{ss}^{(2)} = F_{s\bar{s}}^{(2)} = F_{\bar{s}\bar{s}}^{(2)} = 0, \quad F_{s\psi}^{(2)} = -(\sigma_{\psi})_{s\dot{\alpha}}\bar{W}^{\dot{\alpha}}, \quad F_{\bar{s}\psi}^{(2)} = -(\sigma_{\psi})_{\alpha\bar{s}}W^{\alpha},$$

$$F_{\psi\psi}^{(2)} = -\frac{i}{2} \left[ (\sigma_{\psi\psi})_{\alpha}{}^{\beta}D^{\alpha}W_{\beta} - (\bar{\sigma}_{\psi\psi})^{\dot{\alpha}}{}_{\dot{\beta}}\bar{D}_{\dot{\alpha}}\bar{W}^{\dot{\beta}} \right].$$
(A.6)

Using the same trick we substitute  $\Sigma^{\alpha}$  in for  $W^{\alpha}$  to get  $C^{(2)}$ ,

$$C_{ss}^{(2)} = C_{s\bar{s}}^{(2)} = C_{\bar{s}\bar{s}}^{(2)} = 0, \quad C_{s\psi}^{(2)} = -(\sigma_{\psi})_{s\dot{\alpha}}\bar{\Sigma}^{\dot{\alpha}}, \quad C_{\bar{s}\psi}^{(2)} = -(\sigma_{\psi})_{\alpha\bar{s}}\Sigma^{\alpha}, \\ C_{\psi\psi}^{(2)} = -\frac{i}{2} \left[ (\sigma_{\psi\psi})_{\alpha}{}^{\beta}D^{\alpha}\Sigma_{\beta} - (\bar{\sigma}_{\psi\psi})^{\dot{\alpha}}{}_{\dot{\beta}}\bar{D}_{\dot{\alpha}}\bar{\Sigma}^{\dot{\beta}} \right].$$
(A.7)

Then  $F^{(3)} = dC^{(2)}$  has non-vanishing components

$$F_{s\bar{s}\psi}^{(3)} = i(\sigma_{\psi})_{s\bar{s}}H, \quad F_{s\psi\psi}^{(3)} = (\sigma_{\psi\psi})_{s}^{\alpha}D_{\alpha}H, \quad F_{\bar{s}\psi\psi}^{(3)} = -(\bar{\sigma}_{\psi\psi})^{\dot{\alpha}}{}_{\bar{s}}\bar{D}_{\dot{\alpha}}H,$$

$$F_{\psi\psi\psi}^{(3)} = \frac{1}{8}\varepsilon_{\psi\psi\psia}(\bar{\sigma}^{a})^{\dot{\alpha}\alpha}[D_{\alpha},\bar{D}_{\dot{\alpha}}]H. \tag{A.8}$$

Similarly,

$$C^{(3)}_{s\bar{s}\psi} = i(\sigma_{\psi})_{s\bar{s}}X, \quad C^{(3)}_{s\psi\psi} = (\sigma_{\psi\psi})_{s}^{\alpha}D_{\alpha}X, \quad C^{(3)}_{\bar{s}\psi\psi} = -(\bar{\sigma}_{\psi\psi})^{\dot{\alpha}}{}_{\bar{s}}\bar{D}_{\dot{\alpha}}X,$$

$$C^{(3)}_{\psi\psi\psi} = \frac{1}{8}\varepsilon_{\psi\psi\psia}(\bar{\sigma}^{a})^{\dot{\alpha}\alpha}[D_{\alpha},\bar{D}_{\dot{\alpha}}]X, \qquad (A.9)$$

$$F^{(4)}_{ss\psi\psi} = 4(\sigma_{\psi\psi}\varepsilon)_{ss}\bar{G}, \quad F^{(4)}_{\bar{s}\bar{s}\psi\psi} = -4(\varepsilon\bar{\sigma}_{\psi\psi})_{\bar{s}\bar{s}}G, \quad F^{(4)}_{s\psi\psi\psi} = \frac{1}{2}\varepsilon_{\psi\psi\psia}\sigma^{a}_{s\dot{\alpha}}\bar{D}^{\dot{\alpha}}\bar{G},$$

$$F^{(4)}_{\bar{s}\psi\psi\psi} = \frac{1}{2}\varepsilon_{\psi\psi\psia}\sigma^{a}_{\alpha\bar{s}}D^{\alpha}G, \quad F^{(4)}_{\psi\psi\psi\psi} = \frac{i}{8}\varepsilon_{\psi\psi\psi\psi}(D^{2}G - \bar{D}^{2}\bar{G}), \qquad (A.10)$$

and

$$C_{ss\psi\psi}^{(4)} = 4(\sigma_{\psi\psi}\varepsilon)_{ss}\bar{\Gamma}, \qquad C_{\bar{s}\bar{s}\psi\psi}^{(4)} = -4(\varepsilon\bar{\sigma}_{\psi\psi})_{\bar{s}\bar{s}}\Gamma, \qquad C_{s\psi\psi\psi}^{(4)} = \frac{1}{2}\varepsilon_{\psi\psi\psi a}\sigma_{s\dot{\alpha}}^{a}\bar{D}^{\dot{\alpha}}\bar{\Gamma},$$

$$C_{\bar{s}\psi\psi\psi}^{(4)} = \frac{1}{2}\varepsilon_{\psi\psi\psi a}\sigma_{\alpha\bar{s}}^{a}D^{\alpha}\Gamma, \qquad C_{\psi\psi\psi\psi}^{(4)} = \frac{i}{8}\varepsilon_{\psi\psi\psi\psi}(D^{2}\Gamma - \bar{D}^{2}\bar{\Gamma}). \qquad (A.11)$$

One can check that  $dC^{(4)} = 0$ , so the hierarchy stops here.

Moreover, the gauge transformations can also be cast in this language with

$$\delta C^{(p)} = d\Lambda^{(p-1)},\tag{A.12}$$

where the components of the forms  $\Lambda^{(p-1)}$  are obtained by taking the expressions for  $C^{(p-1)}$  and substituting  $\Lambda$ , L,  $\Upsilon^{\alpha}$ , and  $\Xi$  for  $\Phi$ , V,  $\Sigma^{\alpha}$ , and X respectively. The field-strengths  $F^{(p+1)}$  are invariant by the nilpotency of the super-de Rham differential,  $\delta F^{(p+1)} = d^2 \Lambda^{(p-1)} = 0$ .

For the non-abelian tensor hierarchy, we can almost take the same expressions for the polyforms C and F = QC as in the abelian tensor hierarchy [14] but using the full non-abelian expressions (2.5). The only additional modifications we need to make are in degree two, where we need to modify the expressions as

$$C_{s\psi}^{(2)} = -(\sigma_{\psi})_{s\dot{\alpha}}(\bar{\Sigma}^{\dot{\alpha}} + i(\iota_{\bar{W}})^{\dot{\alpha}}V), \quad C_{\bar{s}\psi}^{(2)} = -(\sigma_{\psi})_{\alpha\bar{s}}(\Sigma^{\alpha} - i(\iota_{W})^{\alpha}V),$$

$$C_{\psi\psi}^{(2)} = (\sigma_{\psi\psi})_{\alpha}^{\ \beta} \left(-\frac{i}{2}\mathcal{D}^{\alpha}\Sigma_{\beta} - \frac{1}{2}(\iota_{\mathcal{D}W})^{\alpha}_{\ \beta}V + (\iota_{W})_{\beta}\mathcal{D}^{\alpha}V\right)$$

$$+ (\bar{\sigma}_{\psi\psi})^{\dot{\alpha}}_{\ \dot{\beta}} \left(\frac{i}{2}\bar{\mathcal{D}}_{\dot{\alpha}}\bar{\Sigma}^{\dot{\beta}} - \frac{1}{2}(\iota_{\bar{\mathcal{D}}\bar{W}})_{\dot{\alpha}}^{\ \dot{\beta}}V + (\iota_{\bar{W}})^{\dot{\beta}}\bar{\mathcal{D}}_{\dot{\alpha}}V\right), \quad (A.13)$$

and similarly for  $F^{(2)}$  with  $\Sigma \to W$  and  $V \to U$ . For a more explicit step-by-step derivation, we refer to [30].

As before, the gauge symmetry is simply  $\delta C = Q\Lambda$  with  $\delta F = Q^2\Lambda = 0$  by the nilpotency of Q. The expressions for  $\Lambda$  are obtained by substituting the gauge parameter superfields in for the prepotentials in the expressions for C (including the given modifications in degree two).

#### A.1 Composite forms

We also need to be able to take wedge products of superforms. For the four-dimensional part of the forms, this works in a straightforward way with numerical factors determined in the same way as for ordinary differential forms and signs determined by the character of the relevant indices (i.e., spinor or vector). The wedge product of two polyforms is given by extending the usual wedge product by linearity. For our purposes there is one additional wrinkle, which is that our objects are also ordinary differential forms in the internal space. Since we generally write our objects with the spacetime indices explicit and the internal indices implicit, the wedge product of two objects  $\omega \wedge \xi$  can get an additional sign when the internal degree of  $\omega$  and the spacetime degree of  $\xi$  are both odd. As examples, here are the rules for constructing the components of  $F \wedge F$  up to degree two<sup>10</sup>

$$F \wedge F)^{(0)} = F^{(0)}F^{(0)}, \tag{A.14a}$$

$$(F \wedge F)_s^{(1)} = 2F^{(0)}F_s^{(1)},\tag{A.14b}$$

$$(F \wedge F)_{\psi}^{(1)} = 2F^{(0)}F_{\psi}^{(1)}, \qquad (A.14c)$$

$$(F \wedge F)_{ss}^{(2)} = 2F^{(0)}F_{ss}^{(2)} - 2F_s^{(1)}F_s^{(1)}, \tag{A.14d}$$

$$(F \wedge F)_{s\bar{s}}^{(2)} = 2F^{(0)}F_{s\bar{s}}^{(2)} - 2F_s^{(1)}F_{\bar{s}}^{(1)}, \qquad (A.14e)$$

$$(F \wedge F)_{s\psi}^{(2)} = 2F^{(0)}F_{s\psi}^{(2)} - 2F_s^{(1)}F_{\psi}^{(1)}, \qquad (A.14f)$$

$$(F \wedge F)^{(2)}_{\psi\psi} = 2F^{(0)}F^{(2)}_{\psi\psi} - 2F^{(1)}_{\psi}F^{(1)}_{\psi}.$$
 (A.14g)

Of course some of these are zero since  $F_{ss}^{(2)} = F_{s\bar{s}}^{(2)} = 0$ , but those terms are included to give the general pattern. For a more complicated relevant example,

$$(F \wedge F)^{(4)}_{\bar{s}\bar{s}\psi\psi} = 2F^{(0)}F^{(4)}_{\bar{s}\bar{s}\psi\psi} - 4F^{(1)}_{\bar{s}}F^{(3)}_{\bar{s}\psi\psi} - 4F^{(1)}_{\psi}F^{(3)}_{\bar{s}\bar{s}\psi} + 2F^{(2)}_{\bar{s}\bar{s}}F^{(2)}_{\psi\psi} - 8F^{(2)}_{\bar{s}\psi}F^{(2)}_{\bar{s}\psi}.$$
 (A.15)

**Open Access.** This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY 4.0), which permits any use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and source are credited.

#### References

- B. de Wit and H. Samtleben, Gauged maximal supergravities and hierarchies of nonAbelian vector-tensor systems, Fortsch. Phys. 53 (2005) 442 [hep-th/0501243] [INSPIRE].
- [2] B. de Wit, H. Nicolai and H. Samtleben, Gauged Supergravities, Tensor Hierarchies, and M-theory, JHEP 02 (2008) 044 [arXiv:0801.1294] [INSPIRE].
- [3] B. de Wit and H. Samtleben, The end of the p-form hierarchy, JHEP 08 (2008) 015 [arXiv:0805.4767] [INSPIRE].
- [4] E.A. Bergshoeff, J. Hartong, O. Hohm, M. Huebscher and T. Ortín, Gauge Theories, Duality Relations and the Tensor Hierarchy, JHEP 04 (2009) 123 [arXiv:0901.2054] [INSPIRE].
- [5] J. Greitz, P. Howe and J. Palmkvist, The tensor hierarchy simplified, Class. Quant. Grav. 31 (2014) 087001 [arXiv:1308.4972] [INSPIRE].
- [6] J. Palmkvist, The tensor hierarchy algebra, J. Math. Phys. 55 (2014) 011701 [arXiv:1305.0018] [INSPIRE].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup>Recall that the total (internal + spacetime) degree of F is four, so the parity of the spacetime degree and the internal degree is the same.

- [7] P. Howe and J. Palmkvist, Forms and algebras in (half-)maximal supergravity theories, JHEP 05 (2015) 032 [arXiv:1503.00015] [INSPIRE].
- [8] H. Samtleben, E. Sezgin and R. Wimmer, (1,0) superconformal models in six dimensions, JHEP 12 (2011) 062 [arXiv:1108.4060] [INSPIRE].
- H. Samtleben, E. Sezgin, R. Wimmer and L. Wulff, New superconformal models in six dimensions: Gauge group and representation structure, PoS(CORFU2011)071
   [arXiv:1204.0542] [INSPIRE].
- [10] H. Samtleben, E. Sezgin and R. Wimmer, Six-dimensional superconformal couplings of non-abelian tensor and hypermultiplets, JHEP 03 (2013) 068 [arXiv:1212.5199] [INSPIRE].
- [11] C. Sämann and M. Wolf, Non-Abelian Tensor Multiplet Equations from Twistor Space, Commun. Math. Phys. 328 (2014) 527 [arXiv:1205.3108] [INSPIRE].
- [12] S. Palmer and C. Sämann, Six-Dimensional (1,0) Superconformal Models and Higher Gauge Theory, J. Math. Phys. 54 (2013) 113509 [arXiv:1308.2622] [INSPIRE].
- [13] K. Becker, M. Becker, W.D. Linch III and D. Robbins, Chern-Simons actions and their gaugings in 4D, N = 1 superspace, JHEP 06 (2016) 097 [arXiv:1603.07362] [INSPIRE].
- [14] K. Becker, M. Becker, W.D. Linch III and D. Robbins, Abelian tensor hierarchy in 4D, N = 1 superspace, JHEP 03 (2016) 052 [arXiv:1601.03066] [INSPIRE].
- [15] S.J. Gates Jr., Super p-form gauge superfields, Nucl. Phys. B 184 (1981) 381 [INSPIRE].
- [16] D. Butter, S.M. Kuzenko and J. Novak, The linear multiplet and ectoplasm, JHEP 09 (2012) 131 [arXiv:1205.6981] [INSPIRE].
- [17] S.M. Kuzenko and J. Novak, On supersymmetric Chern-Simons-type theories in five dimensions, JHEP 02 (2014) 096 [arXiv:1309.6803] [INSPIRE].
- [18] S.M. Kuzenko and J. Novak, Supergravity-matter actions in three dimensions and Chern-Simons terms, JHEP 05 (2014) 093 [arXiv:1401.2307] [INSPIRE].
- [19] L. Bonora, P. Pasti and M. Tonin, Chiral Anomalies in Higher Dimensional Supersymmetric Theories, Nucl. Phys. B 286 (1987) 150 [INSPIRE].
- [20] S.J. Gates Jr., Ectoplasm has no topology: The prelude, hep-th/9709104 [INSPIRE].
- [21] S.J. Gates Jr., Ectoplasm has no topology, Nucl. Phys. B 541 (1999) 615 [hep-th/9809056]
   [INSPIRE].
- [22] M. Pernici, K. Pilch and P. van Nieuwenhuizen, Gauged Maximally Extended Supergravity in Seven-dimensions, Phys. Lett. B 143 (1984) 103 [INSPIRE].
- [23] K. Becker, M. Becker, S. Guha, W.D. Linch III and D. Robbins, *M-theory potential from the G<sub>2</sub> Hitchin functional in superspace*, JHEP **12** (2016) 085 [arXiv:1611.03098] [INSPIRE].
- [24] J. Hartong, M. Hubscher and T. Ortín, The supersymmetric tensor hierarchy of N = 1, d = 4 supergravity, JHEP 06 (2009) 090 [arXiv:0903.0509] [INSPIRE].
- [25] S. Aoki, T. Higaki, Y. Yamada and R. Yokokura, Abelian tensor hierarchy in  $4D \mathcal{N} = 1$  conformal supergravity, JHEP **09** (2016) 148 [arXiv:1606.04448] [INSPIRE].
- [26] R. Yokokura, Abelian tensor hierarchy and Chern-Simons actions in  $4D \mathcal{N} = 1$  conformal supergravity, JHEP 12 (2016) 092 [arXiv:1609.01111] [INSPIRE].
- [27] W.D. Linch III and S. Randall, Superspace de Rham Complex and Relative Cohomology, JHEP 09 (2015) 190 [arXiv:1412.4686] [INSPIRE].

- [28] J. Wess and J. Bagger, Supersymmetry and Supergravity, Princeton University Press, U.S.A. (1992).
- [29] H. Cartan and S. Eilenberg. Homological Algebra, Princeton University Press, U.S.A. (1956).
- [30] S. Randall, Supersymmetric Tensor Hierarchies from Superspace Cohomology, arXiv:1607.01402 [INSPIRE].
- [31] P.S. Howe, T.G. Pugh, K.S. Stelle and C. Strickland-Constable, *Ectoplasm with an Edge*, *JHEP* 08 (2011) 081 [arXiv:1104.4387] [INSPIRE].
- [32] P.S. Howe, O. Raetzel and E. Sezgin, On brane actions and superembeddings, JHEP 08 (1998) 011 [hep-th/9804051] [INSPIRE].
- [33] N. Berkovits and P.S. Howe, *The cohomology of superspace, pure spinors and invariant integrals*, *JHEP* 06 (2008) 046 [arXiv:0803.3024] [INSPIRE].
- [34] S. Randall, The structure of superforms, arXiv:1412.4448 [INSPIRE].
- [35] W.D. Linch III and G. Tartaglino-Mazzucchelli, Six-dimensional Supergravity and Projective Superfields, JHEP 08 (2012) 075 [arXiv:1204.4195] [INSPIRE].
- [36] D. Butter, S.M. Kuzenko, J. Novak and S. Theisen, *Invariants for minimal conformal supergravity in six dimensions*, *JHEP* **12** (2016) 072 [arXiv:1606.02921] [INSPIRE].
- [37] J. Greitz and P.S. Howe, Half-maximal supergravity in three dimensions: supergeometry, differential forms and algebraic structure, JHEP 06 (2012) 177 [arXiv:1203.5585] [INSPIRE].
- [38] J. Greitz and P.S. Howe, Maximal supergravity in three dimensions: supergeometry and differential forms, JHEP 07 (2011) 071 [arXiv:1103.2730] [INSPIRE].
- [39] D. Butter, N = 2 Conformal Superspace in Four Dimensions, JHEP 10 (2011) 030 [arXiv:1103.5914] [INSPIRE].
- [40] D. Butter, S.M. Kuzenko, J. Novak and G. Tartaglino-Mazzucchelli, Conformal supergravity in five dimensions: New approach and applications, JHEP 02 (2015) 111 [arXiv:1410.8682] [INSPIRE].
- [41] D. Butter, N = 1 Conformal Superspace in Four Dimensions, Annals Phys. 325 (2010) 1026
   [arXiv:0906.4399] [INSPIRE].
- [42] D. Butter and S.M. Kuzenko, N = 2 supergravity and supercurrents, JHEP 12 (2010) 080 [arXiv:1011.0339] [INSPIRE].
- [43] W. Siegel and M. Roček, On off-shell supermultiplets, Phys. Lett. B 105 (1981) 275 [INSPIRE].
- [44] D. Butter, J. Novak and G. Tartaglino-Mazzucchelli, *The component structure of conformal supergravity invariants in six dimensions*, arXiv:1701.08163 [INSPIRE].
- [45] A. Galperin, E. Ivanov, S. Kalitsyn, V. Ogievetsky and E. Sokatchev, Unconstrained N = 2 Matter, Yang-Mills and Supergravity Theories in Harmonic Superspace, Class. Quant. Grav. 1 (1984) 469 [Erratum ibid. 2 (1985) 127] [INSPIRE].
- [46] A. Galperin, E. Ivanov, V. Ogievetsky and E. Sokatchev, *Harmonic Superspace*, Cambridge University Press (2001).
- [47] A. Karlhede, U. Lindström and M. Roček, Selfinteracting Tensor Multiplets in N = 2 Superspace, Phys. Lett. B 147 (1984) 297 [INSPIRE].

- [48] U. Lindström and M. Roček, New HyperKähler Metrics and New Supermultiplets, Commun. Math. Phys. 115 (1988) 21 [INSPIRE].
- [49] U. Lindström and M. Roček, N = 2 Super Yang-Mills Theory in Projective Superspace, Commun. Math. Phys. 128 (1990) 191 [INSPIRE].
- [50] C. Arias, W.D. Linch III and A.K. Ridgway, Superforms in six-dimensional superspace, JHEP 05 (2016) 016 [arXiv:1402.4823] [INSPIRE].
- [51] W. Siegel, Curved extended superspace from Yang-Mills theory a la strings, Phys. Rev. D 53 (1996) 3324 [hep-th/9510150] [INSPIRE].
- [52] H. Nishino and S.J. Gates Jr., Chern-Simons theories with supersymmetries in three-dimensions, Int. J. Mod. Phys. A 8 (1993) 3371 [INSPIRE].
- [53] S.J. Gates Jr. and H. Nishino, Remarks on the N = 2 supersymmetric Chern-Simons theories, Phys. Lett. B 281 (1992) 72 [INSPIRE].
- [54] S.J. Gates Jr., M.T. Grisaru and S. Penati, Holomorphy, minimal homotopy and the 4D, N = 1 supersymmetric Bardeen-Gross-Jackiw anomaly, Phys. Lett. B 481 (2000) 397
   [hep-th/0002045] [INSPIRE].
- [55] S.J. Gates Jr., M.T. Grisaru, M.E. Knutt, S. Penati and H. Suzuki, Supersymmetric gauge anomaly with general homotopic paths, Nucl. Phys. B 596 (2001) 315 [hep-th/0009192] [INSPIRE].
- [56] B. de Wit and M. van Zalk, Supergravity and M-theory, Gen. Rel. Grav. 41 (2009) 757 [arXiv:0901.4519] [INSPIRE].
- [57] S.J. Gates Jr., W.D. Linch III and S. Randall, Superforms in Five-Dimensional, N = 1 Superspace, JHEP 05 (2015) 049 [arXiv:1412.4086] [INSPIRE].